Review

Autism spectrum disorder: Consensus guidelines on assessment, treatment and research from the British Association for Psychopharmacology



Journal of Psychopharmacology 1–27 © The Author(s) 2017 Reprints and permissions: sagepub.co.uk/journalsPermissions.nav DOI: 10.1177/0269881117741766 journals.sagepub.com/home/jop **SAGE**

Oliver D Howes^{1,2}, Maria Rogdaki^{1*}, James L Findon^{3*}, Robert H Wichers^{3*}, Tony Charman⁴, Bryan H King⁵, Eva Loth³, Gráinne M McAlonan^{6,7}, James T McCracken⁸, Jeremy R Parr⁹, Carol Povey¹⁰, Paramala Santosh¹¹, Simon Wallace¹², Emily Simonoff¹³ and Declan G Murphy^{6,7}

Abstract

An expert review of the aetiology, assessment, and treatment of autism spectrum disorder, and recommendations for diagnosis, management and service provision was coordinated by the British Association for Psychopharmacology, and evidence graded. The aetiology of autism spectrum disorder involves genetic and environmental contributions, and implicates a number of brain systems, in particular the gamma-aminobutyric acid, serotonergic and glutamatergic systems. The presentation of autism spectrum disorder varies widely and co-occurring health problems (in particular epilepsy, sleep disorders, anxiety, depression, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder and irritability) are common. We did not recommend the routine use of any pharmacological treatment for the core symptoms of autism spectrum disorder. In children, melatonin may be useful to treat sleep problems, dopamine blockers for irritability, and methylphenidate, atomoxetine and guanfacine for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. The evidence for use of medication in adults is limited and recommendations are largely based on extrapolations from studies in children and patients without autism spectrum disorder. We discuss the conditions for considering and evaluating a trial of medication treatment, when non-pharmacological interventions should be considered, and make recommendations on service delivery. Finally, we identify key gaps and limitations in the current evidence base and make recommendations for future research and the design of clinical trials.

Keywords

Autism, treatment, guidelines, neurodevelopmental, aetiology

Table of Contents

1	Abstract	1
2	Introduction	2
3	Method	3
4	Actiology 4.1 Genetic risk factors 4.2 Environmental risk factors 4.3 Biology of ASD 4.4 Summary	3 3 3 4
5	Diagnostic criteria 5.1 DSM-5	4 4
6	Assessment and diagnosis6.1 Instruments and diagnostic tools6.2 Diagnostic challenges	5 6 6
7	Prevalence of co-occurring mental health difficulties in ASD	7
8	Pharmacological Treatment of Core Symptoms of ASD 8.1 Serotonergic agents	7 7

	8.2	Glutamatergic agents	8
	8.3	GABAergic agents	8
	8.4	Dopamine receptor blockers (antipsychotics)	9
	8.5	Other approaches	9
	8.6	Recommendations	10
	8.7	Clinical Trials for ASD core symptoms	
		in progress	10
9	Pha	rmacological treatment of co-occurring	
	con	ditions and symptoms in children	
	witl	h ASD	10
	9.1	Treatment of depression in children with ASD	10
	9.2	Treatment of anxiety and OCD in children	
		with ASD	11
	9.3	Treatment of sleep problems in children	
		with ASD	11
	9.4	Treatment of irritability in children with ASD	11
		Other approaches to treating irritability	
		in children with ASD	12
	9.6	Treatment of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity	
		Disorder (ADHD) and hyperactivity	
		symptoms in children with ASD	12
10	Pha	rmacological treatment of co-occurring	
10		ditions and symptoms in adults with ASD	13
	2011	and of the symptoms in addits with 160D	15

10.1 Treatment of depression in adults with AS	SD 13
10.2 Treatment of anxiety and OCD in adults	
with ASD	13
10.3 Treatment of sleep problems in adults wit	h ASD 13
10.4 Treatment of irritability in adults with AS	D 14
10.5 Treatment of ADHD in adults with ASD	14
10.6 Treatment of Tic and Tourette's syndrome	•
in ASD	14
10.7 Summary	14
11 Non-Pharmacological approaches for	
11 Non-Pharmacological approaches for core symptoms of ASD in children	15
	15 15
core symptoms of ASD in children	
core symptoms of ASD in children 11.1 Social-communication interventions	15
core symptoms of ASD in children 11.1 Social-communication interventions 11.2 Behavioural Interventions	15 15
core symptoms of ASD in children 11.1 Social-communication interventions 11.2 Behavioural Interventions 11.3 Alternative Interventions	15 15 16
core symptoms of ASD in children 11.1 Social-communication interventions 11.2 Behavioural Interventions 11.3 Alternative Interventions 11.4 Recommendations	15 15 16 16

Introduction

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder with an estimated lifetime prevalence of at least 1% (Baird et al., 2006; Brugha et al., 2011). Core symptoms include deficits in social communication and the presence of restricted and repetitive interests or activities and sensory anomalies, beginning in the early developmental period (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The assessment and management of ASD is complex, due to its multifactorial aetiology, persistence into adulthood, presence of co-occurring mental and physical disorders and attendant disability. The total cost, including accommodation, treatment, loss of earnings and health care for individuals over their life span has been estimated to range between £0.92 m and £1.5 m for someone without or with an intellectual disability, respectively (Buescher et al., 2014). ASD-related difficulties are lifelong and often require on-going support. Many people with ASD are prescribed psychotropic medications at some point in their lives. According to a recent study in the UK, using a representative primary care database, psychotropic drugs are prescribed to 29% of people with ASD (Murray et al., 2014). In this study, the most commonly prescribed categories of drugs for ASD were sleep medications (9.7%), psychostimulants (7.9%) and antipsychotics (7.3%) (Murray et al., 2014). In particular, the use of psychostimulants and antipsychotics in ASD is much higher than in the general population (Murray et al., 2014). Similar rates of prescribing psychotropic drugs have also been reported in the USA and Canada. For example, a recent study of over 2800 children from the Autism Treatment Network in North America reported that 27% of children and adolescents with ASD are prescribed at least one psychotropic medication (Coury et al., 2012). Stimulants were most often prescribed (13%), followed by selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors (SSRIs) (8%) and atypical antipsychotics (8%) (Coury et al., 2012). Evidence also indicates that prescription rates have increased, with a more than three-fold increase in antidepressant drug prescriptions for people with ASD in the USA between 1992-2001 (Aman et al., 2005b). Sixty per cent of adults with ASD have concerns about taking medications, particularly due to side-effects and lack of effectiveness (Wallace et al., 2013). This, and the commonplace

	12.3 Cognitive-Behavioural Interventions12.4 Facilitated Communication12.5 Recommendations	16 16 17
13	Service Provision	17
	13.1 Diagnostic services	17
	13.2 Management/Treatment services	17
	13.3 Improving services	18
	13.4 Recommendations	18
14	Future directions	18
	14.1 Future design of clinical trials	18
	14.2 Non-Pharmacological interventions and	
	service provision	19
	14.3 Future outcome measures	19
	14.4 The challenge of biological heterogeneity	19
15	Summary of guidelines and conclusions	20
16	References	21

use of drugs in ASD, suggests there is a need for comprehensive guidance on the assessment and management of ASD, which incorporates advice on the use of psychotropic medications. However, it should be recognised that some people with ASD do not want treatment for the core aspects of ASD. As such, discussion about treatment should take into consideration individual preferences.

In view of the uncertainties, the British Association for Psychopharmacology (BAP) coordinated the development of this consensus guideline to review and make recommendations for the assessment and management of ASD with a focus on drug treatments. We first review the aetiology of ASD to provide a

*These authors contributed equally.

Corresponding author:

Oliver D Howes, MRC London Institute of Medical Sciences, London, UK and Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience, King's College London, Box 67, Camberwell, London, SE5 8AF, UK. Email: oliver.howes@lms.mrc.ac.uk

¹MRC London Institute of Medical Sciences, London, UK

²Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience, King's College London, London, UK

³Sackler Institute for Translational Neurodevelopment, King's College London, London, UK

⁴Department of Psychology, King's College London, London UK

⁵Department of Psychiatry, University of California at San Francisco, San Francisco, USA

⁶The Sackler Centre and Forensic and Neurodevelopmental Science Behavioural and Developmental Psychiatry, Clinical Academic Group, South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK ⁷NIHR-BRC for Mental Health, South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK

⁸Department of Psychiatry and Biobehavioral Sciences, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, USA

⁹Institute of Neuroscience, Newcastle University, Newcastle, UK ¹⁰The National Autistic Society, London, UK

 $^{^{11}\}text{Department}$ of Child Psychiatry, King's College London, London, UK $^{12}\text{AT-Autism}$, London, UK

¹³Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, King's College London, London, UK

framework to understand the diagnostic assessment of ASD and treatment targets. Subsequently we address the management of core symptoms, the management of common co-occurring conditions, non-pharmacological treatments and the implications for service provision, before discussing future directions for clinical research.

Method

A consensus meeting was held with the support of the BAP involving a group of experts on ASD in children, adolescents and adults. The group consisted of psychiatrists, psychologists, researchers in the field and service user representatives. Members of the group gave presentations summarising each topic discussed in this paper, followed by discussion on the nature and quality of the evidence and its implications. Following the consensus meeting, a further literature review was conducted to support the consensus points. Drafts of the review and the recommendations were circulated to the expert group for comments, which were then revised by the expert group to derive the final version of the guidelines.

The evidence in each area was rated using the criteria by Shekelle et al. (1999) (Supplementary Table 1), which rank metaanalyses of randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and large, representative observational studies as the best evidence. Our recommendations were graded based on the strength of the evidence supporting them using the grading criteria described in previous BAP guidelines (Bolea-Alamañac et al., 2014). Thus, recommendations were rated A to D to reflect the evidence (see Supplementary Table 1), with grade A indicating the recommendation is supported by the highest quality evidence. Although, some of the recommendations were based on weaker evidence (B, C, D), this does not necessarily reflect their clinical importance. The category S corresponds to a standard for clinical care, which comprises a consensus on good clinical practice in the absence of other evidence. In summarising the pharmacological evidence, we have focused on the primary end-points of studies but, where this is not the case, we have indicated that the evidence is based on a secondary end-point. We have reported the doses used or, where the dose was variable, we have reported the mean dose used or range if the mean dose was not reported. We also summarise key aspects of the design of the study (whether the raters were blind to intervention, and whether the sample was randomised to a placebo or other comparator) and sample size (using the intention to treat sample) so that readers can gauge the strength of evidence.

Aetiology

Genetic risk factors

Genetic factors play a substantial role in the aetiology of ASD. Recent studies have shown about 80% heritability for ASD (Lichtenstein et al., 2010; Ronald and Hoekstra, 2011). However, within families, no one pattern of inheritance (e.g. autosomal dominant or recessive) is observed. With the exception of a small number of rare genetic variants (recently estimated at 71 variants; (Sanders et al., 2015)), the effect of more common individual risk variants so far identified is small. Monogenetic syndromes with high rates of overlapping disorders which often include ASD as part of their behavioural phenotype include Phelan–McDermid syndrome (PMS), fragile X syndrome (FXS) and tuberous sclerosis (Ghosh et al., 2013). These constitute about 10–15% of all cases of ASD.

In the majority of cases, the genetic risk for ASD is polygenic, involving multiple single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), each of minor effect (Anney et al., 2012; Clarke et al., 2015; Gaugler et al., 2014; Klei et al., 2012). In addition to SNPs and monogenic disorders, a number of de novo suspected single gene loss of function mutations and copy number variants (CNVs; such as microdeletions or microduplications) spanning multiple genes have been reported to increase the risk of ASD and (often substantially), intellectual disability (de la Torre-Ubieta et al., 2016). Breakpoints consistently associated with ASD include the SHANK3 deletion, 1q21, 3q29, 7q11.23, 15q11.2-13.1, 15q12, 15q13, 16p11, 17q12, 22q11.2 and Xq (Vorstman et al., 2006).

The genetic risk variants for ASD implicate a number of key neurobiological pathways that are potential targets for drugs. Specific examples include the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) 2B glutamate ionotropic and gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptors (including GABARA3 and GABARB3), cell adhesion molecules, scaffolding proteins such as SHANK1, SHANK2, SHANK3 ankyrin repeat domain proteins (Bourgeron, 2015), and neuron-glia signalling and microglial activation (de la Torre-Ubieta et al., 2016). An improved understanding of the nature of the disruption in these pathways in ASD is needed to help develop targeted molecular therapies.

Environmental risk factors

A number of prenatal, perinatal and neonatal factors, including significant prematurity, perinatal hypoxia, maternal pre/perinatal infections, maternal vitamin D deficiency, higher paternal age, gestational valproate exposure, maternal obesity and very low birthweight (<1500 g), have been associated with an increased relative risk of ASD (for further details see reviews and metaanalyses: Eyles et al., 2013; Gardener et al., 2009, 2011; Mandy and Lai, 2016). Maternal use of SSRIs before or during pregnancy has also been identified in some studies, but significant questions have been raised about the causality of this association (Man et al., 2015). Interestingly, preclinical work shows that some of these environmental risk factors impact on the same pathways implicated by the genetic association studies (Basil et al., 2014; Richetto et al., 2014), suggesting risk factors may converge on common pathways at the molecular or higher-level brain circuit levels (Voineagu et al., 2011).

Biology of ASD

Brain structural differences in ASD have been identified early in life. The first studies examined head circumference and discovered that this proxy measure of brain size increased more in individuals with ASD than in controls and their unaffected siblings during the first years of their life (Constantino et al., 2010; Courchesne et al., 2003; Elder et al., 2008; Redcay and Courchesne, 2005). This is thought to be explained by a greater volume of both grey and white matter, with especially pronounced overgrowth in the frontal and temporal cortex (Schumann et al., 2010). Early brain overgrowth may include an increase in cortical thickness in ASD at ages 3–4 years old, but seems to be followed

by accelerated cortical thinning (Zielinski et al., 2014). Overall, the growth trajectory rate flattens in ASD such that, by the ages of 10–15 years old, average brain size in ASD is similar to typically developing children. Subsequently grey and white matter volumes may decrease in ASD in adulthood (Lange et al., 2015). However, it is noteworthy that not all head circumference or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) volumetric studies support this model (Hansen et al., 2008; Raznahan et al., 2013a,b; Rogers, 2004). It is therefore possible that early brain overgrowth and subsequent growth trajectory flattening is present in only a subset of individuals with ASD (Lenroot and KaYeung, 2013).

Neurochemical alterations are also reported in ASD. One system which is repeatedly implicated is the serotonin system, which is thought to underpin some anatomical features of ASD. The serotonin system has a role in neurite outgrowth (Fricker et al., 2005), synaptogenesis (Faber and Haring, 1999; Mazer et al., 1997), differentiation and neurogenesis (Kesterson et al., 2002) and therefore its contribution to the early developmental aberrations reported in ASD is highly plausible. Serotonergic abnormalities in ASD include elevated serotonin levels in whole blood and platelets in upwards of 25% of affected individuals (Gabriele et al., 2014; Hanley et al., 1977) and alterations in the developmental trajectory of brain serotonin synthesis activity (Chugani et al., 1997). Together this evidence has provided a theoretical rationale for exploring the effect of serotonergic medications in ASD (Veenstra-VanderWeele et al., 2012) (see section 'serotonergic agents').

More recently, evidence for a pivotal role of the excitatory (E) glutamate and inhibitory (I) GABA systems in ASD has accumulated. An influential review by Rubenstein and Merzenich (2003) proposed that ASD is caused by an increased E/I ratio leading to pathological hyper-excitability within cortical circuits. Some preliminary support for the model comes from a positron-emission tomography (PET) study using a tracer that is relatively selective for the GABA-A alpha-5 receptor sub-type, showing elevated GABA receptor availability in ASD, potentially indicating reduced GABA transmitter levels (Mendez et al., 2013).

Criticisms of the model include that it may be overly simplistic and not specific to ASD, as E/I imbalance has been implied in epilepsy and schizophrenia. E/I balance is likely to differ depending on the brain region and cell-type studied (Nelson and Valakh, 2015; Rothman et al., 2011, 2012; Sibson et al., 1998). Furthermore, evidence from magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) studies of glutamate and GABA in ASD has not been consistent. For example, a recent review of MRS studies reported that out of the 12 studies in frontal cortical regions, four studies failed to report any differences between individuals with ASD and healthy controls; four studies (three in childhood and one in adolescence) reported increased levels of glutamate and the combination of glutamate and glutamine (Glx), and one study reported reduced levels of Glx (Naaijen et al., 2015). In addition, three studies reported decreased levels of GABA in frontal regions (Naaijen et al., 2015). There are fewer studies in the thalamus, hippocampus and striatum, although the results are similarly inconsistent (Naaijen et al., 2015). However, although informative, MRS is limited as it is an overall measure of tissue glutamate and/or GABA which means intra-cellular levels may mask changes in synaptic levels. Thus, these inconsistencies may simply be a product of the current constraints of technology available to examine these neurotransmitters in the living human brain. However, they may also reflect the highly heterogeneous nature of ASD and/or pronounced differences between brain regions or developmental stages.

In contrast, preclinical studies have generated a much more consistent picture of E/I disruption in the perinatal period in rodent models relevant to ASD. In brief, animal models of ASD reveal an increase in spontaneous activity in sensory cortices in early life (Gonçalves et al., 2013; Gutierrez et al., 2009; Peixoto et al., 2016). This may, at least, be partly a consequence of a 'delay' in the switch in GABA responses in brain from excitatory, during prenatal life, to inhibitory, during postnatal life, in ASD and related conditions (Ben-Ari et al., 2012).

Animal and clinical studies have shown that the neuropeptide oxytocin regulates social bonding and recognition, suggesting alterations in the oxytocin system could contribute to manifestations of ASD or its treatment (Baumgartner et al., 2008; Domes et al., 2007; Ferguson et al., 2000; Insel and Shapiro, 1992). This has led to a number of clinical trials (see section on treatment of core symptoms). Furthermore, oxytocin modulates the switch from excitatory GABA to inhibitory function and is therefore an important regulator of E/I balance during the perinatal period (Tyzio et al., 2006, 2014). It is likely that oxytocin continues to have a modulatory effect on E/I later in postnatal life. Hence, oxytocin could serve as a target to modulate E/I balance in ASD.

Lastly, increasing evidence from animal and clinical studies has confirmed that a role for maternal and postnatal immune dysregulation in the aetiology of ASD cannot be overlooked. Taking into account the regulatory role that the immune system has on neuronal cells at every stage of brain development, it is plausible that immune dysfunction, caused by genetic mutations or environmental factors, could alter brain development and function (Estes and McAllister, 2015). Dysfunction of microglial cells, the resident brain immune cells, is one immune mechanism implicated in the pathogenesis of ASD. Data suggest that aberrant microglial function may lead to altered synaptic pruning, which may subsequently contribute to the pathogenesis of ASD (Koyama and Ikegaya, 2015). However, not all in vivo evidence finds support for immunologic dysregulation (Pardo et al., 2017).

Summary

In conclusion, ASD is a complex neurodevelopment disorder that, in the majority of cases, shows multifactorial, polygenic inheritance, although de novo mutations and CNVs are currently estimated to play an important role about 10–20% of patients. Environmental factors, in particular early insults (prenatal, perinatal and postnatal factors), also contribute to an increased risk of developing ASD. Brain development is disrupted from early childhood and shows alterations into adulthood. Key systems implicated in the pathophysiology of ASD are increasingly being identified and provide targets for clinical trials. These include (but are not limited to) the serotonin and oxytocin systems, the immune system and GABA/glutamate interactions.

Diagnostic criteria

Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, version 5 (DSM-5)

The DSM-5, published in 2013 (American Psychiatric Association, 2013), has the latest revision of the diagnostic

criteria for ASD, and a number of changes have been made to reflect recent research. The International Classification of Disease (ICD) version-10 (World Health Organization, 1992) is currently under review with a new revision, ICD-11, planned to be published in 2018. It is not yet clear to what degree ICD-11 will be aligned with DSM-5 – but it is likely there will be substantial agreement on core ASD characteristics.

The main features of the DSM-5 criteria for ASD are summarised in Supplementary Table 2. One key change is that the term 'autism spectrum disorder' is used rather than the term 'autism' and its related categories used in DSM-IV (1994) and ICD-10 (e.g. Asperger syndrome, pervasive developmental disorder - not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS), atypical autism). This shift acknowledges the lack of distinct neurobiological profiles between the different subtypes (Noterdaeme et al., 2010) and the inconsistency in their use (Lord et al., 2012a). The DSM-5 also includes a new category – social (pragmatic) communication disorder (SCD) - to describe individuals with deficits in social verbal and non-verbal communication, but who do not otherwise meet the criteria for a diagnosis for ASD because they do not show repetitive and restricted behaviours. As SCD was only recently introduced, its diagnostic reliability and validity, prognosis, and common features are still to be determined (Norbury, 2014).

The DSM-5 diagnostic criteria for ASD are broader than the DSM-IV criteria for autism. The previously separate domains of social interaction and communication under the DSM-IV classification have been unified as one domain in the DSM-5 (social communication). Hence, the DSM-5 classification of ASD covers two domains; social communication difficulties and repetitive and restricted behaviours (Supplementary Table 1), and include abnormal sensory responses as a cardinal symptom (restored from the DSM-III).

An important addition to the DSM-5 is the inclusion of severity specifiers to indicate the impact of symptoms on adaptive functioning (Supplementary Table 3). Adaptive functioning encompasses communication, occupation and daily living skills (Bal et al., 2015). As shown in Supplementary Table 3, there are three categories for each of the two core symptoms, indicating the level of support the affected individual requires, depending on his/her adaptive functioning. This addition is undoubtedly crucial, as the severity of core symptoms and deficits in adaptive functioning may vary considerably between individuals with the disorder (Constantino and Charman, 2015). Another modification in the DSM-5 is that the new diagnostic criteria offer the option to diagnose co-occurring psychiatric disorders.

Another important change is that the DSM-5 does not specify an age of onset, which has instead been revised to 'symptoms must be present in the early developmental period (but may not fully manifest until social demands exceed limited capacities, or may be masked by learned strategies in later life)' (American Psychiatric Association, 2013: 50-51). This recognises that ASD may not become fully apparent until later in life, and enables the diagnosis of ASD in adulthood (Howlin and Moss, 2012). In addition, the DSM-5 does not require all symptoms to be currently present but rather specifies that they should have occurred at some point in the lifetime. This takes account of the observation that some symptoms are more common at certain time points and also that they may be less evident when the individual is in an optimal environment. A final change in the DSM-5 is the introduction of clinical specifiers to be noted alongside the ASD diagnosis. These include the presence or absence of the following components: (a) intellectual impairment, (b) language impairment, (c) known medical or genetic condition or environmental factor, (d) neurodevelopmental, mental or behavioural disorder, (e) catatonia (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Recent studies indicate that the overall prevalence of ASD may be lower under the DSM-5 compared to the prevalence of autism and related disorders based on the DSM-IV criteria (Maenner et al., 2014). This appears to be mostly due to ~20% of the individuals previously meeting the DSM-IV criteria for PDD-NOS not qualifying for a diagnosis of ASD according to the DSM-5 criteria (Maenner et al., 2014; Mazefsky et al., 2013; Wilson et al., 2013; World Health Organization, 1992).

In summary, the DSM-5 criteria may be particularly useful for diagnosis as they enable diagnosis of adults whose symptoms were not impairing in childhood, and it highlights the importance of co-occurring disorders and functional impact.

Consensus recommendations for diagnosis

- ASD is a complex neurodevelopmental disorder. Its diagnosis requires a neurodevelopmental history and, where possible, a multi-disciplinary approach. (B)
- It is recommended that established diagnostic criteria are used for diagnosis. (D).
- Consider using the DSM-5 criteria as they enable diagnosis in adults and the diagnosis of co-occurring disorders. (D)
- Further studies are required to evaluate the reliability and validity of the Social Communication Disorder diagnosis as a distinct disorder from ASD. (D)

Assessment and diagnosis

Making a diagnosis of ASD is a multi-stage process. It requires the multidisciplinary assessment of current symptoms, acquisition of a developmental history from a primary caregiver and the exclusion of alternative diagnoses by the clinician (National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2013) (evidence level IV).

Symptoms can manifest and be interpreted differently depending on the environmental context. Thus, evaluation of symptomatology in different environments (home, school, community, in addition to the clinic) should be an expectation. The clinician should consider whether impairment in adaptive function is exclusively due ASD or an additional psychiatric or medical disorder (Constantino and Charman, 2015). The high prevalence of co-occurring disorders in ASD indicates that medical and psychiatric disorders, including intellectual ability, should be routinely screened for in individuals presenting with ASD (Kielinen et al., 2004; Simonoff et al., 2008). In addition, cognitive, language and neuropsychological assessments may be considered, as they can provide valuable information about the individual's strengths and weaknesses and inform the management plan (Charman and Gotham, 2013; Ozonoff et al., 2005).

Reaching a diagnosis of ASD, particularly in adults, may be challenging for a variety of reasons. One of the key pillars of the diagnostic process is the acquisition of a developmental history, preferably from a primary caregiver. However, informants for adults with a potential diagnosis of ASD may not be able to recall the developmental history in detail. In some instances, the primary caregivers may not be alive, so clinicians will need to rely on a history that they obtain from other informants, and additional sources of information (such as school reports). Careful consideration should be given to the accuracy of retrospective recall and specific examples of behaviour should be elicited. Where no informant is available, diagnosis should be based on the history and current circumstances (including the current assessment, and reports from employment or school) (Lai and Baron-Cohen, 2015). Similarly, the assessment of a non-verbal child with suspected ASD is also challenging with respect to accurate estimation of intellectual ability, social understanding, and co-occurring disorders.

Instruments and diagnostic tools

More than 20 screening and diagnostic tools for ASD have been developed over the last two decades (Charman and Gotham, 2013). The aim of screening tools is to identify individuals who are in need for further diagnostic assessment and evaluation. In the next section, we briefly summarise the most commonly used instruments used in childhood and adolescence (Supplementary Tables 4 and 5), and in adulthood (Supplementary Table 6).

Children. In Supplementary Table 4, we provide a list of the most frequently used screening instruments for children who may have ASD. Supplementary Table 5 summarises the structured diagnostic instruments for children who may have ASD based on a screening instrument or other information. The structured instruments vary from observational measures (e.g. Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS); Lord et al., 2012b) to caregiver interviews (e.g. Autism Diagnostic Interview Revised (ADI-R); Lord et al., 1994).

Adults. In Supplementary Table 6, we summarise the most common screening instruments for ASD in adults. Diagnostic tools for adults are summarised in Supplementary Table 5. The most robust observational measure for ASD diagnosis in adulthood is the ADOS (module 4) (Lord et al., 2000). However, it has limitations, including its relatively low sensitivity when used to diagnose higher functioning adults with ASD and low specificity in individuals with severe intellectual disability (when used without ADI-R) (Bastiaansen et al., 2011). Also, it may not fully capture repetitive behaviours and/or intense preoccupations (Kim and Lord, 2010).

The development of assessment tools for ASD has helped increase the identification of ASD and aided accuracy of diagnosis both in clinical and research settings (Johnson and Myers, 2007). Clinicians and researchers should be aware of the strengths and limitations of the instruments. For example, being screened positive on one of the screening instruments does not mean that the individual meets a diagnosis for ASD; in the same way, being screened negative does not exclude the diagnosis of ASD. Results of the instruments differ depending on the setting, the presence of other mental disorders, the sample characteristics and the purpose of the screening (Charman and Gotham, 2013) (evidence level II). Other limitations include the requirement for trained administrators and raters and the time taken to administer them; which can be several hours. One should also take into consideration that most of these tools have not been extensively validated in individuals with ASD and intellectual disability or non-western cultures (Rudra et al., 2014).

Despite the acknowledged limitations of individual instruments, the use of a structured diagnostic instrument is still highly recommended in the evaluation of an individual with suspected ASD to ensure a comprehensive and systematic assessment.

Diagnostic challenges

Individuals with ASD may present to services with co-occurring psychiatric disorders, and ASD may be overlooked if it is not considered during the assessment (Lai and Baron-Cohen, 2015). Adults with ASD may develop adaptive mechanisms to manage social situations, for example by mimicking the gestures and conversational style of others (Lai et al., 2011) (evidence level II). This can mask the presentation and make the diagnosis more challenging (Lai et al., 2011). Another complication is that some studies have shown that core symptoms may be manifested differently in females than in males (Van Wijngaarden-Cremers et al., 2014), which may delay diagnosis in females (Wilson et al., 2016). For example, females with ASD may have restricted interests that involve people (literature, pop bands) rather than objects, such as collection of stamps or trains, as seen in males with ASD. They also may have fewer stereotyped behaviours and have more socially accepted interests (Mandy et al., 2012; Van Wijngaarden-Cremers et al., 2014) (evidence level III). Females with ASD may be more likely to have developed coping strategies to manage social situations that mask the degree of their social isolation from peers (Dean et al., 2016). Females in particular may demonstrate overt shyness or bossiness and being perfectionist. These characteristics constitute the socalled 'female phenotype' (Lai and Baron-Cohen, 2015) (evidence level III), however they do not constitute core autistic symptoms and, importantly, may be present in people without ASD.

Consensus recommendations for the diagnostic process

- A multidisciplinary approach is recommended for the diagnosis of ASD. (D)
- The diagnostic process should involve a direct clinical assessment of the individual and, wherever possible, a detailed interview with the caregiver or other informants, reports from school and employment, and assessment of cognitive and language skills and a medical examination. (D)
- Screening instruments are useful in aiding diagnosis, but should not be used exclusively to make or exclude the diagnosis. (B)
- Diagnostic challenges are more pronounced when diagnosis is made in adulthood, and extra care should be made to rule a diagnosis out. (B)
- It is recommended that ASD is routinely considered in the differential diagnosis when an individual presents to mental health services with a psychiatric disorder. (D)
- Clinicians should be aware of the so-called female phenotype and a careful assessment in females is recommended. (C)

Prevalence of co-occurring mental health difficulties in ASD

Co-occurring psychiatric disorders are highly prevalent in ASD and are more common in ASD than in the general population (Croen et al., 2015). Between 69–79% of individuals with ASD experience at least one additional psychiatric condition during their lifetime (Buck et al., 2014; Lever and Geurts, 2016), compared to rates of lifetime psychiatric disorder of approximately 40% in the general population (Bijl et al., 1998).

Co-occurring difficulties in children with ASD

Irritability, self-injurious behaviour and temper tantrums are amongst the most common co-occurring symptoms in children with ASD, seen in around 85% of both high and lower functioning children with ASD (Mayes et al., 2011). Anxiety is also common, and anxiety disorders are seen in children with ASD with prevalence rates of between 42–55% (de Bruin et al., 2007: Simonoff et al., 2008). Of these, specific phobia (prevalence in ASD of between 9-44%) and social phobia (prevalence in ASD of between 8-29%) are the most common disorders (de Bruin et al., 2007; Leyfer et al., 2006; Simonoff et al., 2008). Attentional/hyperactive and behavioural difficulties are also common in ASD. Between 28-53% of children with ASD meet criteria for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and between 7-37% meet criteria for an oppositional defiant disorder or conduct disorder (de Bruin et al., 2007; Leyfer et al., 2006; Salazar et al., 2015; Simonoff et al., 2008; Sinzig et al., 2009). Bipolar disorder and psychotic disorders are less common in ASD, but occur at rates above those of comparison groups (Croen et al., 2015). Mood disorders also often occur in children with ASD (de Bruin et al., 2007; Leyfer et al., 2006; Simonoff et al., 2008). This constellation of problems might also contribute to the sleeping difficulties, which parents report are a concern in 50-80% of children (Richdale and Schreck, 2009). What it is not clear, however, is to what extent these are part and parcel of an ASD diagnosis, or a component of the other conditions that children with ASD may experience. Moreover, the underlying mechanisms may be different to those in people without ASD, which would have implications for using treatments developed for these difficulties in people without ASD (Maskey et al., 2013).

Co-occurring difficulties in adults with ASD

Mood and anxiety disorders are also common in adults with ASD (Wigham et al., 2017). Between 26–57% of adults with ASD experience a mood disorder at some point (Croen et al., 2015; Hofvander et al., 2009; Joshi et al., 2013; Lever and Geurts, 2016; Roy et al., 2015), and anxiety disorders, particularly social phobia, are similarly common (Croen et al., 2015; Hofvander et al., 2009; Joshi et al., 2013; Lever and Geurts, 2016; Roy et al., 2013; Lever and Geurts, 2016; Roy et al., 2013; Lever and Geurts, 2016; Roy et al., 2015). ADHD is also frequently reported in adults with ASD, with prevalence rates of between 11–43% (Croen et al., 2015; Hofvander et al., 2009; Joshi et al., 2013; Lever and Geurts, 2016). However, older adults with ASD have been reported to have lower rates of co-occurring psychiatric disorders than younger adults with ASD, and social phobia in particular appears to be significantly less common in this group (Lever and Geurts,

2016). Tic disorders and Tourette syndrome are also frequently reported co-occurring problems in adults with ASD. Between 20–22% of children and adults with ASD meet the criteria for a tic disorder (Canitano and Vivanti, 2007; Hofvander et al., 2009).

There is a lack of validated screening instruments for the detection of co-occurring conditions in ASD. However, a recent study demonstrated the validity of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) in screening for emotional disorders and hyperactivity in adolescents and adults with ASD (Findon et al., 2016).

Together, these co-occurring disorders have a marked impact on functional impairment and caregiver burden, comparable to that reported by persons caring for individuals with a brain injury (Cadman et al., 2012). Thus, identifying and treating co-occurring disorders in adults with ASD is critical; and this has been identified as a priority by health services and agencies (such as the UK Department of Health and the US Agency on Healthcare Research and Quality).

Pharmacological treatment of core symptoms of ASD

In this section, we will initially summarise the results from studies of pharmacological treatments for the core symptoms of ASD (deficits in social communication and interaction, and restricted and repetitive interests or behaviours). We will then discuss the limitations of the evidence and, finally, proceed with recommendations.

Two main approaches have been taken to develop pharmacological agents for ASD. One is re-purposing treatments from other psychiatric disorders that have symptoms in common with ASD. The second approach is to target the putative neurobiological processes underlying ASD, in some instances by targeting potentially more homogenous sub-populations, such as those with rare genetic abnormalities who have ASD, for example individuals with FXS.

In the following sections, we summarise results from the pharmacological studies grouped by the system primarily targeted, in children first and then adults. In this and the section on co-occurring conditions and symptoms, studies with less than 20 participants in the intention to treat analysis are described as small, studies with 20–45 participants are described as medium, and those with more than 50 participants are described as large. An overview of study designs and findings is given in Supplementary Table 7.

Serotonergic agents

A number of trials of SSRIs have been undertaken but all bar one have involved small sample sizes and demonstrated mixed results (Supplementary Table 7).

A small study of fenfluramine was conducted in children with ASD (Barthelemy et al., 1989) (evidence Ib). Core symptoms were assessed using the Behavior Summarized Evaluation scale (Barthélémy, 1986). There was no significant difference from baseline or between the treatment and placebo groups. Reported side effects included withdrawal and sadness, and weight loss (Barthelemy et al., 1989). Fenfluramine is no longer marketed due to serious adverse effects and it is not recommended for use in ASD.

One large study of citalopram evaluated its effect on repetitive behaviours in children with ASD and failed to demonstrate any significant improvement on the Clinical Global Impression (CGI) Improvement subscale, or on any secondary outcomes including the Children's Yale-Brown Obsessive-Compulsive Scale (CY-BOCS) modified for pervasive developmental disorders (King et al., 2009) (evidence Ib). In addition, children on citalopram experienced significantly more adverse events than children given placebo, particularly increased energy levels, impulsiveness, decreased concentration, hyperactivity, increased stereotypy, diarrhoea, initial insomnia, dry skin and, in one case, a prolonged seizure (King et al., 2009). Citalopram is therefore not recommended for the treatment of core symptoms in children with ASD (evidence Ib). A medium-sized study of liquid fluoxetine was conducted in children and adolescents with ASD (Hollander et al., 2005). Using a low dose of fluoxetine, significant improvement was reported in repetitive behaviours as measured by the CY-BOCS, with an effect size of 0.76, but the overall reduction in repetitive behaviours was <10%. No significant differences between fluoxetine and placebo were reported for side effects (Hollander et al., 2005) (evidence Ib). However, another large completed but unpublished study registered on Clinicaltrials.gov of children and adolescents with ASD treated with fluoxetine was reportedly negative (evidence level Ib) (Neuropharm: clinicaltrails.gov, 2012).

In contrast with studies in children, the studies in adults have been more consistent. A small study of fluoxetine in six adults with ASD showed improvement in the CGI scale in three subjects (Buchsbaum et al., 2001) (evidence IIb double down-graded because of the small sample size). In addition, two small studies showed benefits for fluoxamine and fluoxetine on measures of repetitive behaviours for adults (Hollander et al., 2012; McDougle et al., 1996). However, the benefits were small relative to placebo and the evidence is limited by the small sample sizes (evidence Ib). Therefore, there is not sufficient data to support the recommendation for fluoxamine or fluoxetine.

A recent Cochrane review concluded that there is no evidence to support the use of serotonergic agents in children, whereas there are data to support their use in adults, particularly for repetitive behaviours (Williams et al., 2013) (evidence Ia). Fluoxetine seems the best tolerated of the serotonergic agents, but it should be noted that there have been no head-to-head comparisons of fluoxetine against other agents.

Glutamatergic agents

1. Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGLuR5) antagonists: animal models of fragile X syndrome (FXS) have shown that in the absence of fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP), encoded by the FMR gene, there is an elevation of mGluR5 receptor levels (Dolen and Bear, 2008). Animal behaviours analogous to ASD symptoms are improved by mGluR5 antagonists (Silverman et al., 2014). Based on these findings, trials in FXS have focused on mGluR5 antagonists, such as AFQ056. The first smallsized study of AFQ056 did not find any statistically significant effect on the Aberrant Behaviour Checklist (ABC-C) (evidence level Ib), although a post-hoc analysis suggested an improvement in the ABC-Social Avoidance subscale for a subgroup of patients based upon level of FMR1 methylation (Jacquemont et al., 2011) (evidence

level IIb). Moreover, recent results from two large studies failed to demonstrate any efficacy in the primary endpoint, the ABC-C, (Berry-Kravis et al., 2016) (evidence level Ib) regardless of *FMR1* methylation status. Although the authors of these studies suggested that further trials in a younger population with longer treatment duration are needed in order to fully test the mGluR5 theory (Berry-Kravis et al., 2016), the current evidence does not support the use of AFQ056 and the value of targeting mGluR5 in ASD appears in doubt, at least for people with FXS.

- 2. Memantine is an uncompetitive NMDA antagonist that has been used in dementia (Reisberg et al., 2003). Preclinical studies have shown that when synaptic glutamate levels are high, memantine blocks NMDA receptors, whereas it has the opposite effect when synaptic glutamate levels are low (Parsons et al., 2007). A small study of memantine (Erickson et al., 2007) suggested promising effects, as measured with the CGI scale, however a subsequent large study (Aman et al., 2017) in children with ASD did not demonstrate any efficacy in either primary or secondary outcomes (evidence level Ib). Overall, the evidence does not support the routine use of memantine.
- 3. D-cycloserine is a partial agonist at the glycine, site on NMDA receptors. Several studies have indicated that it is beneficial for the treatment of the negative symptoms of schizophrenia (Tsai and Lin, 2010). Based on the overlap between negative symptoms in schizophrenia and social withdrawal in ASD, Posey et al. (2004) conducted a small study in children with pervasive developmental disorder (PDD). Results showed a significant improvement on the CGI and social withdrawal subscale of the ABC (Posey et al., 2004) (evidence level Ib). A recent medium-sized study in children with ASD reported that D-cycloserine with adjunctive social skills training was superior to placebo at reducing Social Responsiveness Scale scores at 22 weeks (Wink et al., 2017), but not 11 weeks (Minshawi et al., 2016) (evidence level Ib). Thus, while there are some promising results, the current evidence does not currently support the routine use of d-cycloserine.
- 4. CX516 is an allosteric positive modulator of AMPA receptors that has been trialled in FXS (Berry-Kravis et al., 2006). CX516 binds to the AMPA receptor complex, and is thought to slow down the rate of receptor closing to promote long-term potentiation (LTP) in the hippocampus (Arai et al., 1996). However, a medium-sized study in adults with FXS reported no significant effects on cognitive and behavioural outcome measures (Berry-Kravis et al., 2006) (evidence level Ib). Thus, the evidence does not currently support the use of CX516.

GABAergic agents

 $GABA_b$ agonists. $GABA_b$ agonists such as arbaclofen activate GABA and preclinically inhibit the release of glutamate. Theoretically this should restore the balance of E/I neurotransmission in ASD. Three trials have been conducted with arbaclofen to date, one in individuals with FXS and two in individuals with ASD. The first was a medium-sized study in individuals with a

full mutation of the FMR gene (Berry-Kravis et al., 2012). Although there was no difference in the primary outcome (ABC-Irritability subscale) (evidence level Ib), post hoc analysis showed significant improvements with arbaclofen in the ABC-Social Avoidance subscale (evidence level IIb). The second study was a medium-sized study in children and young people with either ASD, PDD or PDD-NOS (Erickson et al., 2014). The results showed significant improvement on the primary outcome, ABC-Irritability scale, as well as in the Lethargy/Social Withdrawal subscale (Berry-Kravis et al., 2012; Erickson et al., 2014) (evidence level IIb). In a recent large study in children and young people with ASD (Veenstra-VanderWeele et al., 2016) (evidence level Ib), there was no significant change in the primary outcome, the ABC-Social Withdrawal Scale, but there was an improvement in secondary outcomes including on the CGI Severity and Improvement scale, and the Socialization and Communication subscales of the Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scale (VABS) (Veenstra-VanderWeele et al., 2016).

Overall, there is insufficient evidence to recommend the routine use of arbaclofen. Further studies are needed to evaluate this further and examine sub-groups (Brondino et al., 2016).

Pregnenolone is a neurosteroid that acts as a positive allosteric modulator of GABA_A receptors to enhance GABA_A receptor function (Hosie et al., 2006). A previous functional neuroimaging study in healthy volunteers reported that compared to placebo, administration of a single oral dose of 400 mg pregnenolone was associated with increased connectivity between the amygdala and medial prefrontal cortex, and reduced self-reported anxiety (Sripada et al., 2013). Subsequently a small study was conducted in adults with ASD (Fung et al., 2014). Among the secondary outcome measures, there was a significant improvement in the ABC-Lethargy/Social Withdrawal Scale (evidence level IIb). However, the study has a number of limitations, including the small sample size, open-label design and absence of a placebo group (Fung et al., 2014), which means it is premature to base recommendations on this study. Therefore, large scale, placebo-controlled randomised trials are necessary to test the benefit of pregnenolone further before it can be recommended in clinical practice. Until then, pregnenolone is not recommended.

Dopamine receptor blockers (antipsychotics)

Risperidone is a D2 dopamine receptor subtype antagonist 1 and is one of the only two approved medications by the European Medicines Agency/Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of irritability in ASD. Several trials have also measured core symptoms of ASD. Secondary analysis on participants selected for high irritability (McDougle et al., 2005) from the Research Units on Pediatric Psychopharmacology (RUPP) study ((McCracken et al., 2002) has shown significant decreases in repetitive behaviours with moderate effect sizes (Cohen's d=0.55), as measured with CY-BOCS scale, and paralleled by decreases in ABC-Stereotypy subscale scores with large effects (Cohen's d=0.8) (evidence level IIa (downgraded from Ib because it is based on secondary analyses). In a post hoc analysis of RUPP and RUPP2 (Aman et al., 2009; McCracken et al., 2002) risperidone studies, significantly greater decreases in ABC-Lethargy/ Social Withdrawal and Hyperactivity subscale scores were

observed in the risperidone- versus placebo-treated subjects (Scahill et al., 2013) (evidence level IIb). Common side effects reported in the studies included weight gain, elevated prolactin levels and sedation (seen in 37% of subjects), although sedation subsided after eight weeks of treatment (Aman et al., 2005a).

2 Aripiprazole is a D2 dopamine receptor subtype antagonist with some partial agonist properties (Kim et al., 2013). It is FDA-approved for irritability in ASD. It has been examined in ASD primarily to treat irritability, but secondary analyses have investigated effects for core symptoms. A recent Cochrane review of aripiprazole for ASD concluded that evidence from two RCTs suggested that it was effective as a short term medication for some behavioural aspects of ASD (Hirsch and Pringsheim, 2016). Significant improvements on the ABC-Stereotypy scale and CY-BOCS were reported from a large study in children and adolescents with ASD (Marcus et al., 2009) (evidence level IIa) (down-graded because this was not the primary outcome measure). In addition, a post hoc analysis that combined this study with another study (Aman et al., 2010; Owen et al., 2009) showed a significant improvement in the ABC stereotypic behaviour subscale scores, with greatest change on the item for repetitive hand, body or head movement (Aman et al., 2010) (evidence level IIa). The most common side effects reported were sedation (20%) and somnolence (10%) (Aman et al., 2010).

Taken together, the studies of dopamine receptor blockers provide evidence that these agents may be beneficial for the treatment of repetitive behaviours in ASD (evidence level IIa). However, there are some caveats: the outcome measures used do not differentiate between compulsions and stereotyped behaviours, the observed differences versus placebo were modest (20%), and the trials were short, hence there is no evidence to indicate if benefits are maintained. Furthermore, the level of clinical benefit due to reduction in these behaviours was not determined and the patient populations were all selected because of high levels of irritability, rather than high levels of repetitive behaviours. Overall, in view of the potential risk of adverse effects, it is not recommended that they are routinely used to treat repetitive behaviours. If they are used, a clear treatment goal should be agreed and a plan to measure this put in place; the risks and benefits should be carefully re-evaluated at regular intervals to ensure the balance continues to favour treatment. Furthermore, dosages should start small and build up over time.

Other approaches

Methylphenidate. Jahromi and colleagues conducted a fourweek randomised, double-blind crossover sub-study of placebo in children with PDD and high levels of ADHD symptoms (Jahromi et al., 2009), as a part of a larger methylphenidate ASD trial (see below). Observational measures assessing social communication and self-regulation were recorded at each medication dose.

Sub-analysis of data from a larger methylphenidate ASD trial (Research Units on Pediatric Psychopharmacology (RUPP) Autism Network, 2005) in children with symptoms of ADHD reported dose-dependent improvements in joint attention and selfregulation (Jahromi et al., 2009). There was a moderate effect size (Cohen's d=0.49) benefit for the best dose versus placebo for joint attention initiations and a moderate-large effect size (Cohen's d=0.61) for regulated affective state scores (Jahromi et al., 2009) (evidence level Ib). It is unclear whether these results are mediated by improvement in ADHD symptoms. Moreover, there is no theoretical reason to expect these findings generalise to individuals with ASD who do not have high levels of ADHD symptoms.

Oxytocin. Evidence from genetic and preclinical studies suggests that oxytocin plays a role in social recognition, attachment and stereotyped behaviours (Carter, 1998; Insel et al., 1999).

A small pilot study of intranasal oxytocin was conducted in adults with ASD (Anagnostou et al., 2012). This study reported no significant changes in the primary outcome measure (the Diagnostic Analysis of Nonverbal Accuracy and Repetitive Behaviour Scale Revised). However, there were significant changes in secondary outcomes, specifically the Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test, a measure related to social communication, and a quality of life questionnaire (Anagnostou et al., 2012). A further small study in adults with ASD reported a significant improvement in social reciprocity, as assessed by the ADOS. The effect size was large (Cohen's d=0.78), and improvement was correlated with increased functional connectivity between the anterior cingulate cortex and medial prefrontal cortex (Watanabe et al., 2015) (evidence level Ib). Results from studies in children and young people are also inconsistent. Guastella et al. (2015) conducted a medium-sized study in adolescent male individuals with ASD (evidence level Ib). Results did not suggest any clinical efficacy in primary outcomes including change in the Social Responsiveness Scale as rated by caregivers and the clinician rated CGI-Improvement scale. (Guastella et al., 2015) (evidence level Ib). A recent medium-sized study with intranasal oxytocin in young children showed significant improvement in the primary outcome of caregiver-rated social responsiveness (Yatawara et al., 2016) (evidence Ib).

In summary, the evidence for oxytocin shows some promise, but also inconsistencies, with the largest study failing to find clear benefits. Moreover, direct replications are lacking due to studies using different outcome measures. There are also few findings of improvements that directly relate to real world function. Additionally, little is known about the side effects of longerterm exposure to oxytocin (Okamoto et al., 2016). In sum, further studies are required to fully investigate oxytocin before it can be recommended for routine use.

Recommendations

Overall, the evidence is currently too limited to support the routine use of any of the agents discussed above for the core symptoms of ASD. Although risperidone and aripiprazole have both shown modest efficacy for the management of repetitive behaviours (evidence level IIa), these studies focussed on individuals with high levels of irritability and it is unclear whether the findings would generalise to the wider ASD population. Furthermore, side effects should be carefully considered. Oxytocin has shown some encouraging preliminary results for deficits in social cognition (evidence level Ib), although large scale randomised clinical trials for assessment of benefits for clinical outcomes and functioning and side effects of long-term exposure are warranted.

Clinical trials for ASD core symptoms in progress

There are at least 12 active studies of oxytocin currently underway and there is also one large phase 2 study of vasopressin in children with ASD (NCT01962870). Insulin growth factor-1 (IGF-1) is another promising target. Based on findings from preclinical studies, where it has been shown that IGF-1 ameliorates synaptic and behavioural deficits in SHANK3 deficient mice (Bozdagi et al., 2010, 2013), Kolevzon et al. conducted a small-scale feasibility study of IGF-1 treatment in nine children with PMS. Interestingly, this showed a statistically significant improvement in social impairment and restrictive behaviours (Kolevzon et al., 2014). Currently a large study on IGF-1 is taking place in children with ASD (NCT01970345), and the results of this, and further work on the potential long-term effects of IGF-1, are awaited.

Consensus recommendations of pharmacological management of core symptoms

- Evidence from clinical trials to date has not demonstrated clear efficacy for the use for any agent in the routine management of ASD core symptoms. (S)
- There is some evidence for the use of risperidone and aripiprazole in the management of repetitive behaviours but, in view of the potential adverse effects, routine use is not recommended for treating repetitive behaviours. If used, clinicians should weigh up the risks and benefits and reevaluate these regularly. (B)

In the next sections, we summarise the results from studies of pharmacological treatments for co-occurring conditions and symptoms in ASD, discuss the limitations of the evidence, and finally, proceed with recommendations. As many co-occurring conditions and symptoms vary by age, we discuss findings in children separately (in the following section) from findings in adults (in the subsequent section). An overview of study designs and findings is given in Supplementary Table 8.

Pharmacological treatment of cooccurring conditions and symptoms in children with ASD

Treatment of depression in children with ASD.

SSRIs and other antidepressants are widely prescribed for people with ASD (Coury et al., 2012). However, there have been no rigorous studies that have investigated the role of SSRIs in treating mood disorders in children with ASD. Given the lack of direct evidence for SSRIs in ASD, the use of SSRIs to treat depression is therefore based on extrapolation from trials in patients without ASD (see BAP guidelines on major depression for recommendations; Cleare et al. (2015)). An additional consideration is the evidence of increased sensitivity to side effects of SSRIs (see chapter on pharmacological treatments of core symptoms) seen in children with ASD (King et al., 2009) (evidence level Ib). We therefore recommend that SSRIs should be used in low doses and titrated up gradually and monitored carefully for side-effects.

Treatment of anxiety and OCD in children with ASD

Although pharmacological treatment of anxiety disorders has not been studied specifically in ASD, symptoms of obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) and anxiety have been investigated in a number of trials.

Risperidone. A medium-sized trial in participants with ASD and high levels of irritability (but not necessarily anxiety) at two dose ranges (lower=0.125–0.175 mg/day; higher=1.25–1.75 mg/day) found improvement in OCD symptoms only in the high-dose group (Kent et al., 2013) (evidence level IIa). Similarly, a large study reported significant, albeit modest, improvements in OCD symptoms after risperidone treatment at 2 mg/day (McDougle et al., 2005).

In addition to improving symptoms of OCD, there is also evidence that risperidone may be effective at treating general symptoms of anxiety in ASD too. A medium-sized trial of risperidone in participants with ASD and high levels of irritability reported significant improvement relative to placebo on the insecure/anxious scale of the Nisonger Child Behavior Rating Form (N-CBRF) (parent version) (Shea et al., 2004) (evidence level IIa). However, it should be noted that a 16-week open-label study of 26 ASD child responders to risperidone reported increased anxiety in the mild-moderate range as a side-effect of treatment (Troost et al., 2005) (evidence level IIa).

Clomipramine. One small study that investigated clomipramine in children with ASD reported a significant improvement in OCD symptoms (Gordon et al., 1993) (evidence level IIa). However, cardiovascular side effects of clomipramine can be significant, and reports of treatment-emergent seizures have been noted (Alldredge, 1999; Pacher and Kecskemeti, 2004).

SSRIs. Two large studies have reported no effect of SSRIs (citalopram and fluoxetine) on obsessive-compulsive symptoms (Hollander et al., 2005; King et al., 2009). Neither drug was effective at reducing symptoms of OCD (evidence level IIa).

Overall, there is little or no evidence for treating anxiety or OCD symptoms with risperidone, clomipramine or an SSRI. The studies of risperidone are limited to participants with high levels of irritability and did not select participants on the basis of clinically significant anxiety or OCD symptoms. Hence it is unclear whether any positive effects are clinically meaningful or pertain to those with co-occurring anxiety/OCD. The same applies to studies of SSRIs, although here the combined evidence failed to identify an effect on anxiety or OCD symptoms. In view of the limited evidence, we recommend cautiously following the BAP guidelines for treating anxiety and OCD (Baldwin et al., 2014).

Treatment of sleep problems in children with ASD

Melatonin. A meta-analysis of five small studies supports the use of melatonin for sleep disorder in ASD (Rossignol and Frye, 2011) (evidence level Ia). Sleep duration was increased (the mean increase was 73 min versus baseline and 44 min versus placebo) and sleep onset latency decreased (mean decrease of 66 min compared with baseline, and in comparison with a 39 min decrease with placebo). However, there were no changes in night-time awakenings in children with ASD (Rossignol and Frye, 2011). The length of melatonin usage in these studies ranged from 14 days to over four years. Melatonin use was associated with minimal to no side effects. A further large study reported a small increase in total sleep time (by a mean of 22 min) and an improvement in sleep onset (with a mean improvement of 38 min), though waking times became earlier too (Gringras et al., 2012). There is also evidence that melatonin combined with cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT) is superior to melatonin only, CBT only and placebo in reducing symptoms of insomnia (Cortesi et al., 2012). The combination group also had a greater proportion of treatment responders reaching clinically significant improvements and fewer dropouts after 12 weeks (Cortesi et al., 2012) (evidence level Ib). Thus, overall, melatonin has proven to be an effective and well-tolerated drug in treating sleeping problems in children with ASD. Adding a behavioural intervention may be of additional value, at least in the short-term.

Treatment of irritability in children with ASD

Common irritability symptoms seen in children with ASD include severe tantrums, aggression or self-injurious behaviours. It is important to note that irritability is more common in individuals with ASD and a co-occurring mood or anxiety disorder (Mayes et al., 2011). It is therefore important to consider and treat, if warranted, any co-occurring mood or anxiety disorder.

Risperidone was the first antipsychotic to receive approval by the USA FDA for irritability in ASD (Food and Drug Administration, 2006). It has been widely studied, with evidence from 10 RCTs reporting its efficacy (evidence level Ib). Several small studies have reported reductions in irritability with large effect sizes (0.7-1.03; Kent et al., 2013; Shea et al., 2004). Similarly, a large multi-site study reported a 57% reduction in irritability (effect size=1.2; McCracken et al., 2002). The most commonly reported side effects of risperidone were weight gain, increased appetite, fatigue, drowsiness and drooling. Long-term (six months) use of risperidone has been investigated by two small studies. Risperidone appears to be tolerated reasonably well but long-term (six months) use was associated with persistent side-effects, including increased appetite, weight gain, mild sedation, hypersalivation and hyperprolactinaemia (Luby et al., 2006; Nagaraj et al., 2006) (evidence level Ib). Hyperprolactinaemia, which is potentially caused by a blockade of dopamine receptors in the tubero-infundibular system (Howes et al., 2009), may normalise over the long-term (Findling and McNamara, 2004), however there is also evidence of increased prolactin after six months of treatment (Luby et al., 2006). In comparison to haloperidol, risperidone seems to be better tolerated with a smaller sedative effect and a lower risk of extrapyramidal symptoms (Miral et al., 2008).

Aripiprazole has also been approved by the FDA for the treatment of irritability in children with ASD (Waknine, 2010) and its effects studied in several RCTs. This evidence has been metaanalysed by Douglas-Hall et al. (2011) which reported a significant reduction in irritability relative to placebo with an effect size of 0.64 after eight weeks of treatment (evidence level Ib; downgraded because this study included only two RCTs (total n=316, dose range=2–15 mg/day). Similar to risperidone, side-effects of aripiprazole included sedation, fatigue and increased appetite. Vomiting was also reported by some children. It is also noteworthy that no increase in serum prolactin was observed in the aripiprazole studies and reductions were seen in some children. This suggests that aripiprazole is preferable to risperidone in cases with concerns regarding hyperprolactinaemia. A line-item analysis of the ABC-I from the two RCTs revealed that aripiprazole had no effect on self-injurious behaviour, which was attributed to low baseline rates (Aman et al., 2010). Thus, although the construct of irritability includes self-injury, aripiprazole may not be helpful specifically for this symptom. A similar item analysis has not been performed for risperidone so it is unclear how this drug compares for self-injury.

A large long-term study of aripiprazole reported that the benefits of aripiprazole on irritability were maintained over the study period (Marcus et al., 2011). However, discontinuation due to side effects occurred in about 10%, with aggression and weight increase being the most commonly reported. No additional safety concerns were identified besides those evident in short-term exposure. Therefore, both risperidone and aripiprazole appear to retain most of their initial benefits on irritability seen in acute studies, and both agents are suitable for longer periods of treatment, with appropriate routine safety monitoring.

In conclusion, there is a reasonable body of evidence indicating that risperidone and aripiprazole are effective at treating irritability in ASD with moderate to large effect sizes. However, their potential benefits should be weighed against the risk of side effects. Behavioural and/or educational interventions should be considered prior to prescribing these drugs, given their sideeffect profiles. It is recommended that if an antipsychotic is started, treatment targets should be set and progress against these regularly evaluated, and weighed against side-effects (including relevant medical assessments and laboratory tests) during treatment reviews. In view of the risk of persistent side-effects, we also recommend periodic attempts to reduce the daily dosage and discontinue to either confirm the necessity for on-going exposure, or establish that the need for the drug has resolved.

Other approaches to treating irritability in children with ASD

Minocycline has been investigated in an open-label add-on pilot study of individuals with FXS (Paribello et al., 2010). Minocycline significantly reduced irritability ratings and improved secondary outcome measures, including the CGI-I (average score 'mildly improved') and a visual analogue scale (VAS) for behaviour (Paribello et al., 2010) (evidence level IIb). The most common side effects were dizziness and diarrhoea. A medium-sized trial also in subjects with FSX reported a modest improvement (2.49 versus 2.97, minocycline versus placebo respectively) on CGI-I ratings, but not in any of the secondary outcomes including the ABC–C scale (Leigh et al., 2013) (evidence level Ib). Overall, minocycline's potential benefit for reducing irritability needs additional study before routine use can be recommended, particularly in non-FSX ASD populations.

Arbaclofen has been studied in children with ASD for irritability with inconsistent findings to date. One open-label study reported significant improvement on irritability ratings (Erickson et al., 2014) but two medium and large controlled trials reported no change on irritability ratings (Berry-Kravis et al., 2012; Veenstra-VanderWeele et al., 2016) (evidence level Ib).

Amantadine is a non-competitive NMDA antagonist. Despite encouraging case reports and small open-label studies, a small controlled trial by King et al. (2001) reported no effect of amantadine on responder rate or irritability ratings (evidence Ib). However, there were significant (albeit, modest) differences in clinician ratings for hyperactivity (amantadine reduction of -6.4versus placebo reduction of -2.1) and inappropriate speech (amantadine reduction of -1.9 versus placebo reduction of 0.4) (King et al., 2001) (down-graded to evidence level IIa as a secondary analysis). No parent-reported measures were identified as being significantly different. Thus, current evidence does not support the use of amantadine for irritability.

In view of the limited data available for minocycline, randomised, double-blind controlled studies are required before recommendations can be made. The current evidence does not support the use of arbaclofen or amantadine for irritability.

Treatment of ADHD and hyperactivity symptoms in children with ASD

Methylphenidate has been reported as an effective treatment for ADHD in children with ASD by a meta-analysis of four studies (effect size=0.67) (evidence level Ia, but note this is based on only four studies) (Reichow et al., 2013). A variety of different ADHD outcome measures were used in these studies and the duration of exposure ranged between 1-4 weeks (see Supplementary Table 8). There is also evidence that the response rate to methylphenidate in individuals with ASD and ADHD is lower than in individuals with ADHD without ASD. For example, one medium-sized study reported a response rate of 50% in ASD subjects with symptoms of ADHD (Research Units on Pediatric Psychopharmacology Autism Network, 2005) compared to response rates of 70-80% in children with ADHD without ASD (Jensen, 1999). The severity of side-effects may also be greater in individuals with ASD and ADHD compared to individuals with ADHD without ASD. Discontinuation rates due to side effects were much higher in the ASD study (18%) compared to the non-ASD study (1.4%) (Jensen, 1999; Research Units on Pediatric Psychopharmacology Autism Network, 2005). The most commonly reported side effects in children with ASD were decreased appetite, sleeping difficulties, abdominal discomfort, social withdrawal, irritability and emotional outbursts, mostly similar to those seen in the treatment of ADHD for people without ASD. Taken together, these findings suggest that, although effective, methylphenidate may not be as effective in people with ASD as in people with ADHD and that individuals with ASD are more likely to experience side-effects.

Atomoxetine, a non-stimulant drug for ADHD is an alternative to methylphenidate. Evidence from one small and one medium study demonstrate improvement in symptoms of hyperactivity but not inattention (Hedge's g=0.83, effect size d=0.90) (Arnold et al., 2006; Harfterkamp et al., 2012) (evidence level Ib). The most common side effects were nausea, fatigue and sleeping difficulties (Arnold et al., 2006). A further large study investigated individual and combined-effectiveness of atomoxetine and parent training (PT). Atomoxetine, (both alone and combined with PT) significantly reduced ADHD symptoms (Handen et al., 2015). The authors conducted a 24-week extension study demonstrating that atomoxetine combined with PT was superior at reducing ADHD symptoms than atomoxetine alone (Smith et al., 2016). The effect sizes reported in the atomoxetine studies (0.59–0.98) are similar to the effect size reported for methylphenidate in children with ASD (0.67) (Research Units on Pediatric Psychopharmacology Autism Network, 2005), suggesting equivalent efficacy.

The α 2A receptor agonist antihypertensive-drugs clonidine, guanfacine and lofexidine have also been examined as treatments for ADHD in children with ASD.

Clonidine. Two small studies have reported improvements in symptoms ADHD - in particular, symptoms of hyperactivity (Fankhauser et al., 1992; Jaselskis et al., 1992) (evidence level IIa down-graded because of the small sample sizes). Reported side-effects included sedation, drowsiness, fatigue and decreased activity. Guanfacine appears to be less sedating than clonidine with promising evidence for its efficacy according to two studies (one small, one medium) (Scahill et al., 2006, 2015) (evidence level Ib). The study authors report a response rate of 50%, which is comparable to the group's earlier methylphenidate response rate of 48% (Research Units on Pediatric Psychopharmacology (RUPP) Autism Network, 2005). Notable side-effects included drowsiness, irritability, reduced blood pressure and bradycardia. There is some preliminary evidence for lofexidine based on one small, non-randomised study, which reported significant improvement in ADHD (in particular, hyperactivity) (Niederhofer et al., 2002), but this is insufficient evidence to support routine use (evidence level Ib).

In summary, there is good evidence that methylphenidate is an effective treatment for co-occurring ADHD in children with ASD. Atomoxetine should be considered as a good alternative to methylphenidate. There is also promising evidence for $\alpha 2A$ receptor agonists, which should also be considered as alternatives amongst those who are not responsive or intolerant to this class of medication. Reports suggest that risperidone and aripiprazole significantly improve scores on the ABC-H relative to placebo, suggesting these drugs may also be useful. Further studies are required in samples of ASD+ADHD to confirm their effectiveness, since the samples were not selected for ADHD and the ABC-H was not the primary outcome measure. Treatment effect sizes are generally lower in ASD than typically developing populations, and, at least for stimulants, levels of adverse effects are higher. Close periodic monitoring of side effects (including relevant medical assessments) is thus of high importance where these treatments are used in ASD.

Pharmacological treatment of cooccurring conditions and symptoms in adults with ASD

Treatment of depression in adults with ASD

The evidence for treating mood disorders in adults with ASD is very limited. Only one SSRI (fluoxetine) has been studied in adults with ASD (Buchsbaum et al., 2001). This small study reported no change in depression relative to placebo (Buchsbaum et al., 2001) (evidence level IIa). Secondary analysis of risperidone in a trial for repetitive behaviours demonstrated significant reductions on a VAS for mood in a non-clinically depressed group (McDougle et al., 1998). The efficacy of risperidone for clinical depression in ASD remains to be tested.

Given the limited evidence-base of studies in ASD groups, we recommend following the BAP guidelines for treating depression in ASD (Cleare et al., 2015). These should be applied cautiously given the apparent increased propensity for behavioural activation associated with antidepressants in youth with ASD and that these guidelines are not specific to people with ASD (Vasa et al., 2014).

Treatment of anxiety and OCD in adults with ASD

Evidence for treating anxiety in adults with ASD is also limited and studies have been mainly focused on obsessive/compulsive symptoms.

- Fluoxetine has been studied for anxiety in ASD in two small studies. One reported a significant improvement in obsessions but not compulsions (Buchsbaum et al., 2001) (evidence level IIa) and the other reported a significant reduction in self-reported compulsions (Hollander et al., 2012) (evidence level Ib). No change in compulsions was found in ratings by independent observers.
- Fluvoxamine has been reported to reduce symptoms of both obsessions and compulsions by one small study at eight and 12 weeks (McDougle et al., 1996) (evidence level Ib). Apart from nausea and mild sedation in a few patients, fluvoxamine was well tolerated.
- 3. Risperidone was reported to reduce symptoms of anxiety/ nervousness on a clinician-rated VAS and self-reported compulsions in a study of repetitive behaviours in ASD (McDougle et al., 1998) (evidence level Ib). The participants all scored above 10 on the Y-BOCS compulsion subscale at entry, indicating at least mild severity at baseline.

In summary, benefits have been reported in small studies using SSRIs as a treatment for anxiety disorders, predominantly OCD, in adults with ASD. Although SSRIs are generally well tolerated, the beneficial effects are modest, and the evidence is limited. There is currently insufficient evidence to recommend risperidone. In view of the limited specific evidence in ASD, we therefore recommend following the BAP guidelines for treating anxiety (Baldwin et al., 2014), but, as with the treatment of mood disorders, we would recommend proceeding cautiously.

Treatment of sleep problems in adults with ASD

Despite the evidence for its effectiveness in children with ASD, there are currently no published clinical trials of melatonin in adults with ASD. One small (n=6) retrospective study reported that melatonin was effective in reducing sleep onset latency and nocturnal awakenings and improved total sleep time (Galli-Carminati et al., 2009) (evidence level III). Effects remained after six months and no side effects were noted during the therapy.

	Children	Adults
Mood disorders	Decision on treatment needs to be made on a case-by- case basis. Follow the BAP guidelines for treating depres- sion. (S)	Decision on treatment needs to be made on a case-by-case basis. Follow the BAP guidelines for treating depression. (S)
Anxiety disorders	Consider a cautious trial of an SSRIs followed by risperi- done if poor response. Monitor for worsening of anxiety in some children. (B)	Decision on treatment needs to be made on a case-by-case basis. Follow the BAP quidelines for treating anxiety. (S)
Sleep disorders	Melatonin, if possible, in combination with a behavioural intervention. (A) Prolonged use of benzodiazepines and related GABA agonists is not recommended. (S)	Melatonin, if possible, in combination with behavioural inter- vention (extrapolation from findings in children). (S) Prolonged use of benzodiazepines and related GABA agonists is not recommended. (S)
Irritability	Risperidone or aripiprazole but only when behavioural or educational approaches have failed. (A)	Decision on treatment needs to be made on a case-by-case basis. Aripiprazole or risperidone or an SSRI should only be considered cautiously and after considering alternatives. (S)
ADHD	First line: methylphenidate. Second line: atomoxetine, or α 2A receptor agonist. Children with ASD may experience more side-effects and show less response than non-ASD patients with ADHD. (A)	Decision on treatment needs to be made on a case-by-case basis. Follow the BAP guidelines for treating ADHD. (S)
Tic disorders and Tourette syndrome	Decision on treatment needs to be made on a case-by- case basis. (S)	Decision on treatment needs to be made on a case-by-case basis. (S)

Table 1. Consensus recommendations: Pharmacological treatment of co-occurring conditions and symptoms in children and adults with ASD.

ADHD: attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder; ASD: autism spectrum disorder; BAP: British Association for Psychopharmacology; GABA: gamma-aminobutyric acid; SSRI: selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitor.

Given the limited evidence, recommendations must be made by extrapolation from studies in children and adults without ASD. We recommend following the BAP guidelines on sleep disorders (Wilson et al., 2010) with the same general caveats discussed for mood and anxiety disorders. In addition, it is worth considering an early trial of melatonin, in view of the benefit in children, and its favourable side-effect profile. We do not recommend the prolonged use of benzodiazepines and related GABAagonists due to the risk of tolerance and side-effects, in line with the BAP guidelines on sleep disorders.

Treatment of irritability in adults with ASD

Treating irritability has been less well studied in adults than it has been in children with ASD.

Risperidone was reported to significantly reduce symptoms of irritability and aggression in a small study after 12 weeks (McDougle et al., 1998) (evidence level IIa). The same group also investigated fluvoxamine in a small study that reported a reduction in aggression after 12 weeks of treatment (McDougle et al., 1996) (evidence level IIa). In both these studies, irritability and aggression were not the primary outcome measures. A small study of fluoxetine reported no effect on irritability, although this was not the primary outcome of this (Hollander et al., 2012) (evidence level IIa). A small study of pregnenolone reported significant improvement in irritability (Fung et al., 2014) (evidence level IIb).

In summary, there is limited evidence to guide the treatment of irritability in adults with ASD. A dopamine blocker such as risperidone or SSRI could be tried cautiously and side-effects should be carefully monitored (including relevant medical assessments and laboratory tests). Alternatives such as behavioural approaches should also be considered first (see section on non-pharmacological approaches below). Further studies on pregnenolone are warranted.

Treatment of ADHD in adults with ASD

There have not been any RCTs that have investigated the role of stimulant or non-stimulant medications in treating ADHD in adults with ASD. In view of this we recommend cautiously following the BAP guidelines for treating ADHD (Bolea-Alamañac et al., 2014), with the same general caveats discussed above for mood and anxiety disorders.

Treatment of tic and Tourette syndrome in ASD

No current studies are available for treating tic disorders in children or adults with ASD specifically. A recent review (Whittington et al., 2016) on tic disorders in the absence of ASD reported evidence favouring the use of the a2-adrenergic receptor agonists clonidine and guanfacine (standardised mean difference= -0.71; 95% confidence interval (CI) -1.03 to -0.40; evidence level Ia). This was based on four trials with a total *n*=164. As there are no studies on treating tic disorders in ASD we would recommend that the decision on using α 2A receptor agonists with ASD is made on a case-by-case basis.

Summary

Most RCTs in ASD have centred on children and adolescents, and have overwhelmingly been focused on symptoms, not co-occurring disorders. There is some limited evidence to suggest that both treatment response and side effects to pharmacological interventions differ from the general population, suggesting extrapolation from findings in non-ASD populations should be made cautiously (evidence level IIb). Currently the best studied medication classes include dopamine blockers to target irritability and drugs targeting ADHD symptoms (methylphenidate, atomoxetine, α 2A receptor agonists). Secondary data analyses suggest the antipsychotics have modest benefits on repetitive behaviours. However, there remain very significant gaps in knowledge particularly with respect to some of the most common co-occurring conditions (e.g. anxiety and mood disorders) and some of the most widely prescribed drugs (e.g. antidepressants).

Consensus recommendations of pharmacological treatment of co-occurring conditions and symptoms in children and adults with ASD can be found in Table 1.

Non-pharmacological approaches for core symptoms of ASD in children

A full analysis of psychological interventions for ASD is beyond the scope of these guidelines. However, we summarise key elements of the evidence to provide context for the other aspects of management discussed, particularly drawing on recent National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) (National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2013) and US Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) (Weitlauf et al., 2014) reviews of behavioural interventions.

Social-communication interventions

Individual focused interventions can be delivered to young children. They are commonly mediated by parents, teachers or peers and can be combined with joint-attention approaches and applied behaviour analysis (ABA). These interventions typically include developing patterns of communication that are directed by the child's interest in activities, repeating back or expanding on what the child says, sitting close to the child and making eye-contact and using mirroring/imitation of the child's actions. Parent-mediated interventions use parent-training programmes to improve parental sensitivity and responsiveness to child communication through techniques such as therapist-lead instruction and video feedback. Most programmes available for parents of children with ASD have been developed specifically for young preschool children with ASD. The effectiveness of such programmes has been assessed by NICE (National Institute for Clinical Excellence, 2012). This found there was evidence of efficacy for some of these programmes over treatment as usual (TAU) at reducing symptoms of social interaction impairment including communication acts, parent-child joint attention and joint engagement. However, these effects were small and often not clinically meaningful. For example, Green et al. (2010) compared the Preschool Autism Communication Trial (PACT) to TAU. ADOS-G scores were reduced by 3.9 points in the PACT group and 2.9 points in the TAU group, representing a between group effect size of -0.24. However, both parent synchrony and child initiations were improved in the short-term by the PACT

15

treatment (Green et al., 2010) and recent long-term follow-up has reported reduced ASD symptoms as measured by the ADOS and sustained increases in child initiations six years after treatment ended (Pickles et al., 2016). Similarly, a RCT of Hanan's 'More Than Words' intervention versus TAU found no main effect of treatment on child outcomes immediately or at five months after treatment (Carter et al., 2011). However, there were gains on child communication at nine months which were moderated by baseline object interest (lower object interest=greater gains). Two further RCTs of parent-mediated interventions published after the NICE and AHRQ reviews indicate improvements in parent–child interactions (Kasari et al., 2014; Wetherby et al., 2014).

Peer-mediated social-communication interventions can be delivered to school-aged children. These typically involve freeplay sessions between a child with ASD and typically-developing children who have undergone preparatory training. There is evidence (level Ib) of the effectiveness of such interventions on the core feature of reciprocal social communication and peer–child joint engagement from four RCTs and one non-randomised trial (see recent review by Chang and Locke (2016)). However, most of these studies were conducted with high functioning children with ASD. Hence there is a need for further research to establish the effectiveness of peer-mediated interventions in other age and functional groups with ASD.

There is also evidence (level Ib) of modest gains on the quality and frequency of social play after the parent-assisted 'Children's Friendship Training (CFT)' social skills group training programme (Frankel et al., 2010). This programme has also shown effectiveness on social skills in children with ADHD (Frankel et al., 1995, 1997) and children with foetal alcohol spectrum disorders (O'Connor et al., 2006). The CFT and other similar social skills interventions (Koenig et al., 2010; Lopata et al., 2010) typically involve mixed clinical groups with or without typically developing peers and the teaching of social skills through instruction, modelling, rehearsal, role-play, performance feedback and homework. The CFT programme has been adapted for adolescents and found to have beneficial effects on social skills among teens 13–17 years of age (Laugeson et al., 2009).

Behavioural interventions

Although not explicitly recommended in the NICE guidelines, the AHRQ review found evidence that a number of interventions based on high-intensity ABA applied over an extended time-frame had a positive effect on cognitive functioning and language skills (Weitlauf et al., 2014). These interventions include the Learning Experiences and Alternative Program for Preschoolers and their Parents (LEAP), the Lovaas Model and the Early Start Denver Model (ESDM). Of the 10 studies included in the AHRQ review, only two were RCTs and both were conducted in the USA (Dawson et al., 2010, 2012; Strain and Bovey, 2011), where health and education services may not readily generalisable to other settings. There is also evidence (level Ib) for combined joint attention training and ABA-based interventions. Two studies reviewed by NICE (Kasari et al., 2006; Landa et al., 2011) showed large effects (standardised mean difference [SMD]=1.11) of additional joint-attention training for the child responding to joint attention during child-examiner interactions, moderate to large effects

Alternative interventions

A number of alternative therapies, such as exclusion diets, secretin, chelation and hyperbaric oxygen therapy, have been tried for ASD. The evidence available indicates that exclusion diets such as gluten- or casein-free diets should not be routinely used for the management of core features of ASD (National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2013). Moreover, the available evidence indicates that secretin treatment is not effective (Sandler et al., 1999). Chelation and hyperbaric oxygen therapy are potentially harmful with little evidence of benefit and should not be used to manage ASD in any context (Davis et al., 2013; Goldfarb et al., 2016; National Institute for Clinical Excellence, 2012).

Recommendations

We recommend considering a specific social-communication intervention for the core features of ASD in children and adolescents that includes play-based strategies with parents, carers and teachers to increase joint attention, engagement and reciprocal communication. These interventions may also support the parents', carers', teachers' or peers' understanding of, and sensitivity and responsiveness to, the child or young person.

Consensus recommendations of non-pharmacological approaches for children and adolescents

- 1. A specific social-communication intervention should be offered to children and adolescents according to their developmental level. (A)
- 2. Social skills training should be offered to adolescents in either group or individual sessions. (A)
- 3. Exclusion diets and secretin, chelation and hyperbaric oxygen therapy should not be used for the management of ASD in children or adolescents. (D)

Psychological approaches to ASD in adults

A full analysis of psychological approaches for adults with ASD is beyond the scope of these BAP guidelines. In the following section, we summarise the key points to provide context for other aspects of management considered, drawing on the NICE guidelines and AHRQ review.

Social learning programmes

NICE guidelines recommend group- or individual social learning programmes for adults with ASD without a learning disability (LD) or with a mild to moderate LD, who have problems with social interaction. Social learning programmes to improve social interaction deficits apply behavioural therapy techniques within a social learning framework, such as using video modelling, peer/individual feedback, imitation and reinforcement to teach conventions of social engagement. There is evidence (level III) from observational studies in adults with ASD that suggest social skills groups may be effective at improving social interaction (Hillier et al., 2007; Howlin and Yates, 1999). However, the only RCT of social skills training found no positive treatment effect of emotion recognition training on general emotion recognition (Golan and Baron-Cohen, 2006), suggesting that social interaction programmes may only be effective when they include a more general social learning component.

Behavioural and life-skills interventions

Adults with ASD of all ranges of intellectual ability who need help with activities of daily living can be offered a structured, predictable training programme based on behavioural principles. However, the evidence (level Ib) of the effectiveness of these programmes is indirect and largely reliant on studies of adults with a learning disability (Matson et al., 1981).

In adults with ASD without LD or with mild to moderate LD who are socially isolated or have restricted social contact, interventions should focus on the acquisition of life skills based on the specific need of the individual. In recent years, there has been increased interest in providing structured leisure activities for people with ASD. There is evidence (level Ib) of the effectiveness of these programmes on overall quality of life and emotion recognition from two RCT's (see review by National Institute for Clinical Excellence, 2012).

Cognitive-behavioural interventions

CBT can help adults with ASD across a range of domains. Principally, CBT is effective at treating anxiety and OCD, and supporting adults who have difficulties with victimisation and obtaining or maintaining employment. Evidence (level II) from a systematic review demonstrates the effectiveness of CBT for anxiety in ASD (Lang et al., 2010). However, there is also evidence that anxiety management performs just as well as CBT in reducing symptoms of OCD in individuals with ASD (Russell et al., 2013).

Cognitive-behavioural interventions can be implemented to support individuals with ASD who are at risk of victimisation by teaching decision-making and problem-solving skills. Evidence (level Ib) from two RCTs suggests that CBT in adults with LD is effective at increasing skills to deal with victimisation (Khemka, 2000; Khemka et al., 2005). However, these studies are limited by including cases without ASD. Individual support programmes can be used to improve employment and job retention. Studies of supported employment programmes are consistently positive despite methodological concerns including lack of randomisation in one study.

Facilitated communication

Facilitated communication uses a facilitator to support the arm movement of an individual with ASD to point at letters on an alphabet board, keyboard or similar device. Positive reports of its effectiveness are almost exclusively based on anecdotal evidence (Biklen, 1990; Biklen et al., 1992, 1995; Biklen and Schubert, 1991; Clarkson, 1994; Crossley and Remington-Gurney, 1992; Heckler, 1994; Janzen-Wilde et al., 1995; Olney, 1995; Sabin and Donnellan, 1993; Sheehan and Matuozzi, 1996; Weiss et al., 1996). There is no evidence of positive effects from any scientific study (Bebko et al., 1996; Beck and Pirovano, 1996; Bomba et al., 1996; Braman et al., 1995; Crews et al., 1995; Eberlin et al., 1993; Edelson et al., 1998; Hirshoren and Gregory, 1995: Hudson et al., 1993: Klewe, 1993: Konstantareas and Gravelle, 1998; Montee et al., 1995; Myles and Simpson, 1994; Myles et al., 1996; Oswald, 1994; Regal et al., 1994; Simon et al., 1996; Simpson and Myles, 1995a; Smith and Belcher, 1993; Smith et al., 1994; Szempruch and Jacobson, 1993; Vázquez, 1994; Wheeler et al., 1993). In addition to the lack of empirical support, there is evidence that facilitated communication can lead to significant harm. For example, there have been unsubstantiated claims of sexual abuse against family members made when using facilitated communication (Rimland, 1992; Simpson and Myles, 1995b). For these reasons, NICE strongly recommends that facilitated communication is not used (National Institute for Clinical Excellence, 2012).

Recommendations

It is recommended that adults with ASD are offered psychological interventions to optimise personal functioning, including developing the skills necessary for access to public transport, employment and leisure facilities. Interventions should focus on supporting access to community activities and increasing the individual's quality of life. Furthermore, psychological approaches can be used to help with acceptance of their difficulties, treat co-occurring conditions and to teach life skills specific to the needs of the individual.

Consensus recommendations of psychological approaches with adults

- 1. For adults with problems with social interaction, consider a group or individual social-learning programme. (A)
- 2. Do not provide facilitated communication for adults with ASD. (D)
- 3. For adults who need help with activities of daily living, consider offering training programmes based on behavioural principles. (A)

Service provision

The NICE guidelines published in 2011 recommend the development of multi-agency teams for people with ASD that include representatives from child health and mental health services, education, social care and the voluntary sector. However, service provision varies greatly and in many settings is significantly weighted towards diagnosis and children's services rather than treatment and support or adult care. In particular, there are unmet needs around common co-existing conditions including feeding problems, sleep problems, anxiety, hyperactivity and sensory problems (Maskey et al., 2013). Unfortunately, there has been very little health service research that has focused on ASD. In view of this, we review the available evidence below and make recommendations for service provision for children and adults, but it should be appreciated that these are largely based on the expert opinion of the working group.

Diagnostic services

Timely and valid diagnosis is important as early diagnosis and provision of appropriate management services is likely to improve long-term outcome (Magiati et al., 2014; Oono et al., 2013). Referral and diagnostic pathways for ASD vary, but in most cases, the initial concerns raised by parents or professionals will be directed to a general practitioner (GP), speech and language therapist or an educational psychologist. These will undertake an initial assessment and decide to refer the patient to children's health or mental health services for a full assessment. A full assessment should be made by professionals who are trained in the assessment, diagnosis and treatment of ASD using a combination of diagnostic tools, assessments and clinical experience (level IV). In general, diagnosis should not be formulated by one single professional and should involve a multi-disciplinary team (MDT) (Penner et al., 2017). This should ideally consist of a speech and language therapist, a clinical psychologist, paediatrician or child psychiatrist, and an occupational therapist. However, there is significant variation in service provision. For example, 47% of teams surveyed in the UK do not have access to a clinical psychologist (Palmer et al., 2010).

It is noteworthy that studies from some settings report a correlation between lower socioeconomic status and later diagnosis (Goin-Kochel et al., 2006), suggesting that there are social impediments to referral and diagnosis. However, studies in settings where there is universal free healthcare (such as the UK) do not show this relationship, or even show the opposite relationship (Brett et al., 2016). Other factors reportedly associated with earlier age of diagnosis in the UK include a 'core' ASD diagnosis (as opposed to broader ASD), language regression or delay, and greater degree of support needed (Brett et al., 2016). Furthermore, there is evidence of a sex bias in referral and diagnosis even in settings such as the UK, suggesting a delayed recognition of the disorder in young girls (Brett et al., 2016; Rutherford et al., 2016). Moreover, within the UK there is regional variation in the diagnostic services available (Gray et al., 2015; Palmer et al., 2010; Parr et al., 2013) (level IV).

Given these findings, there is a need for clear referral pathways that ensure adequate assessment is available to all who need it (Buckley, 2016). This needs to be coupled with increased training to raise awareness of ASD among GPs and healthcare visitors (level IV).

Management/treatment services

Given the complexity of ASD, its treatment and monitoring should be conducted by professionals who are trained and experienced in treating and monitoring ASD (S). For patients with severe symptoms, a structured multi-disciplinary approach that includes regular reviews of the overall care package, such as the care programme approach, is indicated (S). Ideally, treatment should be managed by a specialist MDT with experience in ASD and related disorders. Where this is not possible, services should consider a consultation-liaison model where recommendations are made by a specialist team but implemented by general health services such as general psychiatrists, paediatricians or GPs, with further liaison depending on response (S). Individuals with ASD who are in child and adolescent services should be reassessed around 14 years of age to establish the need for continuing treatment into adulthood (S) (National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2013). Where ongoing treatment is required, arrangements should be made for a smooth transition into adult services and the individual kept informed about the treatment and services available to them (S) (National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2013). Information about adult services should be provided to the young person, and their parents or carers, including their right to a social care assessment at age 18 (S).

Finally, there is a clear need for health services research to evaluate diagnostic and treatment service models, both in terms of clinical outcomes and cost-effectiveness.

Improving services

Given the importance of timely diagnosis, early identification and referral is a priority. GP initiatives and specialist training for health visitors are recommended to improve early identification (S). Diagnostic and treatment services should be led by MDTs that consist of a minimum of a psychiatrist (or paediatrician where appropriate), a speech and language therapist, and a psychologist. Treatment recommendations should be made alongside diagnosis and followed up by a team experienced in treating ASD, using a structured care approach, such as the Care Programme Approach, particularly for people with severe and complex needs. There is a possibility that referral rates for ASD will increase given the greater public awareness and diagnostic service availability. This poses a challenge to services that are trying to provide a valid and timely diagnosis. It is therefore important to use screening tools in order to target service resources. Finally, it is important to consider costs when assessing current services or developing new ones. Services should be audited regularly to ensure quality and accessibility of care for patients.

Recommendations

There is large variation in services between settings and little research on the optimum service provision or cost-effectiveness. There is a need for well-designed studies to evaluate models of service provision, and RCTs developed to test these using patient experience, functional outcomes in addition to standard clinical measures (strength of recommendation: D). Finally, it is important to consider costs when assessing current services or developing new ones, and future studies of service provision should include cost-analysis (strength of recommendation: D). Services should be audited regularly to ensure quality and accessibility of care for patients (strength of recommendation: D).

Consensus recommendations for service provision

- 1. Reassess individuals with ASD in children's services during adolescence well in advance of the transition date to establish the need for continuing treatment. (S)
- 2. If continuing treatment is necessary, make arrangements for a smooth transition to adult services or GP and give information to the young person about the treatment and services they may need. (S)

- 3. For young people and adults whose needs are complex or severe, use the care programme approach or similar structured approach to coordinate their needs and to aid the transfer between services. (S)
- 4. Involve the individual with ASD in care planning and, where appropriate, their parents or carers. (S)
- 5. Provide information about adult services to the young person, and their parents or carers, including their right to a social care assessment at age 18 years. (S)

Future directions

The earlier sections have highlighted that there are a number of limitations and areas of uncertainty, particularly for core ASD symptoms. The following section discusses these and makes recommendations for future research.

Future design of clinical trials

Many studies are open-label and/or small scale, or lack an adequate placebo group. Hence, there is a general need for positive findings from these initial exploratory and proof-of-concept studies to be followed-up with large-scale randomised placebocontrolled trials. This presents a number of challenges for the field. First, as some potentially useful treatments are off-patent, the field will not be able to rely on the pharmaceutical industry to fund studies of these compounds. Thus, funding will need to be sought from other sources, including government funded agencies, and charities and foundations. Second, the field will need infrastructure for large-scale trials across many settings. This will also involve centres developing the capacity to screen and recruit people with ASD to clinical trials, and is likely to benefit from the involvement of support groups and charities (Warnell et al., 2015) (strength of recommendation: D).

One major limitation of the literature to date is that only a small number of clinical trials have included participants below the age of five years. Interventions that begin before the age of five years may have the most dramatic effect (Aman et al., 2015) as ASD symptoms start emerging and brain plasticity is at its peak during this period. However, there are important safety considerations regarding the use of pharmacological interventions in paediatric populations (Kearns et al., 2003). Consequently, it will be necessary to develop and trial interventions in this period both to prevent the onset of ASD and minimise its effects on brain and cognitive development (strength of recommendation: D). Another general limitation of studies to date is that individuals with ASD who have an intellectual disability are usually excluded, despite the fact that over a third of people with ASD have an intellectual disability (Baio, 2012). Thus, to be representative, future studies should include people with ASD and intellectual disability, and need to adopt designs that facilitate this (strength of recommendation: D). Clearly both these issues will involve overcoming the ethical and practical challenges of enrolling young children and people with intellectual disability into clinical trials. This may be helped by wider engagement with individuals and their families regarding the design of clinical trials. Another issue that needs addressing is the duration of trials, which have mostly been weeks or at most a few months to date. Given the long-standing and pervasive nature of core symptoms, it is highly unlikely that core symptoms will improve in a few weeks or months and, where there is change, it is necessary to show that this is sustained (strength of recommendation: D).

Non-pharmacological interventions and service provision

There is a lack of large-scale, multicentre RCT's investigating the effectiveness of social-communication interventions, ABA, behaviourally-based life skills training and anti-victimisation CBT. Studies are required to assess the effectiveness of these interventions across a range of outcome measures including cost-effectiveness and quality of life (strength of recommendation: D). Similarly, models of service provision are under-tested and require empirical evaluation (strength of recommendation: D). These studies should use patient experience and functional outcomes in addition to standard clinical measures of improvement.

Future outcome measures

Another critical issue that needs to be addressed is the lack of agreement on the outcome measures to be used in trials to accurately capture changes in core ASD symptoms over time (Aman et al., 2004). An optimal tool needs to be reliable and suitable for repeated administration. Current functioning should also be a focus. Aman and colleagues provide a comprehensive review of potential instruments and also point out that other aspects such as language, intellectual level and adaptive behaviour should be incorporated in the outcome measures (Aman et al., 2004) (strength of recommendation: D). Another obstacle that needs to be considered in pharmacological studies is that in the absence of objective psychometric measures, evaluation of symptom change in children depends on the parent-report measures, which are prone to expectancy bias (Aman et al., 2015). Thus, blinding and placebo control is important, and findings from open-label studies should be treated with caution. Last, but not least, the perspective of individuals with ASD and their carers should be taken into account when deciding on outcome measures. A recent systematic review highlighted the disparity in the outcomes identified as important by parents and those identified by health professionals: parents highlighted the importance of social participation and emotional wellbeing, whereas health professionals concentrated on the content of the available instruments they have (McConachie et al., 2015). A tool that indexes the quality of life of individuals with ASD that should be included as an outcome measure in future clinical trials (strength of recommendation: D). Furthermore, monitoring of adverse effects should not be limited to studies of pharmacological interventions. Adverse effects should be monitored when studying psychological and other interventions too.

The challenge of biological heterogeneity

On top of these difficulties in designing clinical trials, another challenge is the genetic and neurobiological heterogeneity seen in ASD, which means that it is unlikely that any single drug will be effective for all patients. It is clear that we need better understanding of the neurobiology underlying ASD to identify key molecular and system pathways that are disrupted, and the determinants of heterogeneity. This will enable the development of treatments that target key components of the neurobiology. Coupled with this we need biomarkers to identify sub-types that will respond to particular approaches (Loth et al., 2016b). A considerable amount of work is currently on-going to develop imaging, genetic, proteomic and other biomarkers for this purpose (e.g. Loth et al., 2017). To date there is no independently validated biomarker for stratification of patients, and trials have rarely attempted to include biomarkers that would enable stratification. Thus, it is largely unknown if there are sub-groups that showed better or worse response in past trials.

Syndromic types of ASD with a defined genetic basis can be used in the absence of biomarkers. Pathophysiological changes are likely to more homogenous in syndromic ASD (e.g. FXS). As discussed earlier, open-label studies on FXS using lithium (Berry-Kravis et al., 2008) and minocycline (Paribello et al., 2010) have shown encouraging results, suggesting the potential of this approach, although studies need to be replicated in randomised, double-blind controlled studies. This highlights two over-riding issues; first of all, the level of complexity in the neurobiology of ASD (Ghosh et al., 2013) and secondly the importance of either conducting the studies in a clinically and biologically homogenous groups or including biomarkers to stratify heterogeneous groups.

So far, the identification of putative subgroups has been limited by small sample sizes, which limits the power of studies to test the influence of stratification by sub-groups on treatment response. Small discovery studies need to be followed by larger studies with the power to test the clinical utility of the potential biomarkers they identify (strength of recommendation: D). Therefore, in the future, large-scale, multicentre studies where patients are stratified according to their biological subtype are necessary in order to test whether stratification by particular biomarkers corresponds to improved response in a sub-group (strength of recommendation: D). In these studies, subgroups may be identified according to their genetic or molecular profile and then subsequently compared in terms of cognitive, neuroimaging and biochemical measures (Loth et al., 2016a). These advances will hopefully make it possible to identify biomarkers which, in the future, can be used to treat individuals with ASD more effectively and with a more personalised approach.

Consensus recommendations for future research directions

- Studies should include biomarkers to identify potential sub-groups in order to support stratification in future clinical trials where possible. (D)
- Clinical trials should ideally be multicentre, large-scale and include biomarkers where possible. This will ensure results are more generalisable and offer the opportunity to test whether a change in outcome measures is associated with change in biomarkers. (D)
- Clinical trials should include younger children and individuals with ASD and intellectual disability to ensure generalisability to the whole population of people with ASD. (D)
- Longer-term clinical trials lasting at least six months are required. (D)

- There is a need to develop objective outcome measures that can reliably capture changes of core symptoms over time. (D)
- Clinical trials should also include measures of quality of life of individuals with ASD. (D)
- Large-scale, multicentre, RCTs are needed to assess the effectiveness of social-communication interventions and applied behavioural analysis on a range of outcome measures. (D)
- All interventional studies, including those investigating psychological and social interventions, should include measures of adverse effects (D)
- Studies are needed to examine the effectiveness of behaviourally based daily life skills in adults with ASD. (D)
- Studies are needed to examine the effectiveness of antivictimisation CBT in adults with ASD. (D)
- Studies are needed to evaluate models of service provision using patient experience and functional outcomes in addition to standard clinical measures (D).

Summary of guidelines and conclusions

These guidelines present recommendations based on the current literature and expert opinion for the diagnosis and management of ASD in children and adults. Our review of the evidence is not intended to be exhaustive, but to highlight key findings and also place them in a clinical context, drawing from the practical experience of the contributors. We hope that this balance will help the clinician who draws on the guidelines to place the evidence and our recommendations in the individual context of the person with ASD in front of them.

Current evidence does not support the routine use of any pharmacological treatment for the core symptoms of ASD. The evidence base is growing, particularly for co-occurring symptoms and disorders, yet much of the evidence is relatively nascent, particularly for core aspects of ASD. Aripiprazole and risperidone have shown some benefit for repetitive behaviours but are recommended only on a case-by-case basis in view of the risk of side-effects. There are a number of treatments for co-occurring conditions with a reasonable evidence base, although the evidence is still largely limited to symptomatology and mainly limited to children. In children, melatonin is recommended for sleep disorders, risperidone and aripiprazole may be cautiously used in the management of irritability if behavioural approaches are not possible, and methylphenidate is recommended for ADHD symptoms. There is very limited evidence for treatments for other co-occurring symptoms or disorders and in adults. Consequently, treatment is guided by extrapolation from studies in people without ASD. As treatment response and side-effect profiles in ASD may differ from the general population, treatment guided by extrapolation from studies in people without ASD must be cautious. Therefore, each treatment for an individual with ASD should be approached as an n=1 trial with careful evaluation of both benefits and side-effects.

In children and adolescents, social-communication interventions should be offered to increase joint-attention, engagement and reciprocal communication. In adults, psychological interventions should focus on the acquisition of life skills, access to community activities and quality of life.

ASD is a common and pervasive condition with a high health burden, and complex pathoaetiology involving a number of brain systems. The impact of ASD on the individual, their family and wider society is substantial, but may be reduced by timely diagnosis, the use of effective treatments, and avoiding inappropriate treatment. We recommend that service providers ensure people with ASD have timely access to diagnostic and treatment services with specialist expertise in ASD. Research into the genetics and neurobiology of ASD indicates that there is significant genetic and neurobiological heterogeneity. This is likely to lead to heterogeneity in the response to treatment and differential sensitivity to side-effects. It also highlights the need for biomarkers that can be used to guide the development of new treatments for core symptoms and co-occurring conditions, and help identify sub-groups who may respond better. Our analysis of the current evidence also highlights particular key gaps and limitations, and makes recommendations to address these. There are a number of studies of promising treatments being developed and we hope our recommendations will inform the development of studies. Finally, it is important to appreciate that we do not see these guidelines as set in stone. Indeed, we look forward to the evidence base growing, and anticipate revising these guidelines in the light of future developments.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank the staff of the BAP, in particular Susan Chandler, and Lynne Harmer, for their help with organising the consensus meeting.

Declaration of conflicting interests

The author(s) declared the following potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: Oliver D Howes: has received investigator-initiated research funding from and/or participated in advisory/speaker meetings organised by Astra-Zeneca, Autifony, BMS, Eli Lilly, Heptares, Jansenn, Lundbeck, Lyden-Delta, Otsuka, Servier, Sunovion, Rand and Roche. James T McCracken: Alcobra Pharmaceuticals (DSMB honorarium), Psyadon Pharmaceuticals (clinical trial), AstraZeneca (study medication). Paramala Santosh: Newron Pharmaceuticals (clinical trial). The remaining authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Funding

The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material is available for this article online.

References

- Alldredge BK (1999) Seizure risk associated with psychotropic drugs: Clinical and pharmacokinetic considerations. *Neurology* 53: S68–S75.
- Aman MG, Arnold LE and Hollway JA (2015) Assessing change in core autism symptoms: Challenges for pharmacological studies. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 25: 282–285.
- Aman MG, Arnold LE, McDougle CJ, et al. (2005a) Acute and long-term safety and tolerability of risperidone in children with autism. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 15: 869–884.

- Aman MG, Findling RL, Hardan AY, et al. (2017) Safety and efficacy of memantine in children with autism: Randomized, placebo-controlled study and open-label extension. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 27: 403–412.
- Aman MG, Kasper W, Manos G, et al. (2010) Line-item analysis of the Aberrant Behavior Checklist: Results from two studies of aripiprazole in the treatment of irritability associated with autistic disorder. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 20: 415–422.
- Aman MG, Lam KS and Van Bourgondien ME (2005b) Medication patterns in patients with autism: Temporal, regional, and demographic influences. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 15: 116–126.
- Aman MG, McDougle CJ, Scahill L, et al. (2009) Medication and parent training in children with pervasive developmental disorders and serious behavior problems: Results from a randomized clinical trial. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 48: 1143–1154.
- Aman MG, Novotny S, Samango-Sprouse C, et al. (2004) Outcome measures for clinical drug trials in autism. CNS Spectr 9: 36–47.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013) Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association.
- Anagnostou E, Soorya L, Chaplin W, et al. (2012) Intranasal oxytocin versus placebo in the treatment of adults with autism spectrum disorders: A randomized controlled trial. *Mol Autism* 3: 16.
- Anney R, Klei L, Pinto D, et al. (2012) Individual common variants exert weak effects on the risk for autism spectrum disorders. *Hum Mol Genet* 21: 4781–4792.
- Arai A, Kessler M, Rogers G, et al. (1996) Effects of a memory-enhancing drug on DL-alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor currents and synaptic transmission in hippocampus. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 278: 627–638.
- Arnold LE, Aman MG, Cook AM, et al. (2006) Atomoxetine for hyperactivity in autism spectrum disorders: Placebo-controlled crossover pilot trial. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 45: 1196–1205.
- Baio J (2012) Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders: Autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 14 sites, United States, 2008. MMWR Surveill Summ 61: 1–19.
- Baird G, Simonoff E, Pickles A, et al. (2006) Prevalence of disorders of the autism spectrum in a population cohort of children in South Thames: The Special Needs and Autism Project (SNAP). *Lancet* 368: 210–215.
- Bal VH, Kim S-H, Cheong D, et al. (2015) Daily living skills in individuals with autism spectrum disorder from 2 to 21 years of age. *Autism* 19: 774–784.
- Baldwin DS, Anderson IM, Nutt DJ, et al. (2014) Evidence-based pharmacological treatment of anxiety disorders, post-traumatic stress disorder and obsessive-compulsive disorder: A revision of the 2005 guidelines from the British Association for Psychopharmacology. J Psychopharmacol 28: 403–439.
- Barthélémy C (1986) Evaluations cliniques quantitatives en pédopsychiatrie. *Neuropsychiatrie de l'Enfance et de l'Adolescence* 34: 63–91.
- Barthelemy C, Bruneau N, Jouve J, et al. (1989) Urinary dopamine metabolites as indicators of the responsiveness to fenfluramine treatment in children with autistic behavior. *J Autism Dev Disord* 19: 241–254.
- Basil P, Li Q, Dempster E, et al. (2014) Prenatal maternal immune activation causes epigenetic differences in adolescent mouse brain. *Transl Psychiatry* 4: e434.
- Bastiaansen JA, Meffert H, Hein S, et al. (2011) Diagnosing autism spectrum disorders in adults: The use of Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS) module 4. J Autism Dev Disord 41: 1256–1266.
- Baumgartner T, Heinrichs M, Vonlanthen A, et al. (2008) Oxytocin shapes the neural circuitry of trust and trust adaptation in humans. *Neuron* 58: 639–650.
- Bebko JM, Perry A and Bryson S (1996) Multiple method validation study of facilitated communication: II. Individual differences and subgroup results. *J Autism Dev Disord* 26: 19–42.

- Beck AR and Pirovano CM (1996) Facilitated communicators' performance on a task of receptive language. J Autism Dev Disord 26: 497–512.
- Ben-Ari Y, Khalilov I, Kahle KT, et al. (2012) The GABA excitatory/ inhibitory shift in brain maturation and neurological disorders. *Neuroscientist* 18: 467–486.
- Berry-Kravis E, Des Portes V, Hagerman R, et al. (2016) Mavoglurant in fragile X syndrome: Results of two randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. *Sci Transl Med* 8: 321ra5.
- Berry-Kravis E, Krause SE, Block SS, et al. (2006) Effect of CX516, an AMPA-modulating compound, on cognition and behavior in fragile X syndrome: A controlled trial. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 16: 525–540.
- Berry-Kravis E, Sumis A, Hervey C, et al. (2008) Open-label treatment trial of lithium to target the underlying defect in fragile X syndrome. *J Dev Behav Pediatrics* 29: 293–302.
- Berry-Kravis EM, Hessl D, Rathmell B, et al. (2012) Effects of STX209 (arbaclofen) on neurobehavioral function in children and adults with fragile X syndrome: A randomized, controlled, phase 2 trial. *Sci Transl Med* 4:152ra127.
- Bijl RV, Ravelli A and van Zessen G (1998) Prevalence of psychiatric disorder in the general population: Results of The Netherlands Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study (NEMESIS). Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 33: 587–595.
- Biklen D (1990) Communication unbound: Autism and praxis. *Harv Educ Rev* 60: 291–315.
- Biklen D, Morton MW, Gold D, et al. (1992) Facilitated communication: Implications for individuals with autism. *Top Lang Disord* 12: 1–28.
- Biklen D, Saha N and Kliewer C (1995) How teachers confirm the authorship of facilitated communication: A portfolio approach. *J Assoc Persons Severe Handicaps* 20: 45–56.
- Biklen D and Schubert A (1991) New words: The communication of students with autism. *Rem Spec Educ* 12: 46–57.
- Bolea-Alamañac B, Nutt DJ, Adamou M, et al. (2014) Evidence-based guidelines for the pharmacological management of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: Update on recommendations from the British Association for Psychopharmacology. JPsychopharmacol 28: 179–203.
- Bomba C, O'Donnell L, Markowitz C, et al. (1996) Evaluating the impact of facilitated communication on the communicative competence of fourteen students with autism. J Autism Dev Disord 26: 43–58.
- Bourgeron T (2015) From the genetic architecture to synaptic plasticity in autism spectrum disorder. Nat Rev Neurosci 16: 551–563.
- Bozdagi O, Sakurai T, Papapetrou D, et al. (2010) Haploinsufficiency of the autism-associated Shank3 gene leads to deficits in synaptic function, social interaction, and social communication. *Mol Autism* 1: 15.
- Bozdagi O, Tavassoli T and Buxbaum JD (2013) Insulin-like growth factor-1 rescues synaptic and motor deficits in a mouse model of autism and developmental delay. *Mol Autism* 4: 9.
- Braman BJ, Brady MP, Linehan SL, et al. (1995) Facilitated communication for children with autism: An examination of face validity. *Behav Disord* 21: 110–118.
- Brett D, Warnell F, McConachie H, et al. (2016) Factors affecting age at ASD diagnosis in UK: No evidence that diagnosis age has decreased between 2004 and 2014. *J Autism Dev Disord* 46: 1974–1984.
- Brondino N, Fusar-Poli L, Panisi C, et al. (2016) Pharmacological modulation of GABA function in autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review of human studies. *J Autism Dev Disord* 46: 825–839.
- Brugha TS, McManus S, Bankart J, et al. (2011) Epidemiology of autism spectrum disorders in adults in the community in England. Arch Gen Psychiatry 68: 459–465.
- Buchsbaum MS, Hollander E, Haznedar MM, et al. (2001) Effect of fluoxetine on regional cerebral metabolism in autistic spectrum disorders: A pilot study. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* 4: 119–125.
- Buck TR, Viskochil J, Farley M, et al. (2014) Psychiatric comorbidity and medication use in adults with autism spectrum disorder. *J Autism Dev Disord* 44: 3063–3071.

- Buckley C (2016) RCGP position statement on autistic spectrum disorders. Royal College of General Practitioners. Available at: http:// www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/clinical-resources/autisticspectrum-disorder.aspx
- Buescher AV, Cidav Z, Knapp M, et al. (2014) Costs of autism spectrum disorders in the United Kingdom and the United States. JAMA Pediatr 168: 721–728.
- Cadman T, Eklund H, Howley D, et al. (2012) Caregiver burden as people with autism spectrum disorder and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder transition into adolescence and adulthood in the United Kingdom. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 51: 879–888.
- Canitano R and Vivanti G (2007) Tics and Tourette syndrome in autism spectrum disorders. *Autism* 11: 19–28.
- Carter AS, Messinger DS, Stone WL, et al. (2011) A randomized controlled trial of Hanen's 'More Than Words' in toddlers with early autism symptoms. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 52: 741–752.
- Carter CS (1998) Neuroendocrine perspectives on social attachment and love. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 23: 779–818.
- Chang Y-C and Locke J (2016) A systematic review of peer-mediated interventions for children with autism spectrum disorder. *Res Autism Spectr Disord* 27: 1–10.
- Charman T and Gotham K (2013) Measurement issues: Screening and diagnostic instruments for autism spectrum disorders lessons from research and practice. *Child Adolesc Ment Health* 18: 52–63.
- Chugani DC, Muzik O, Rothermel R, et al. (1997) Altered serotonin synthesis in the dentatothalamocortical pathway in autistic boys. *Ann Neurol* 42: 666–669.
- Clarke TK, Lupton MK, Fernandez-Pujals AM, et al. (2015) Common polygenic risk for autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is associated with cognitive ability in the general population. *Mol Psychiatry* 21: 419–425.
- Clarkson G (1994) Creative music therapy and facilitated communication: New ways of reaching students with autism. *Prev Sch Fail: Altern Educ Child Youth* 38: 31–33.
- Cleare A, Pariante CM, Young AH, et al. (2015) Evidence-based guidelines for treating depressive disorders with antidepressants: A revision of the 2008 British Association for Psychopharmacology guidelines. J Psychopharmacol 29: 459–525.
- Constantino JN and Charman T (2015) Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder: Reconciling the syndrome, its diverse origins, and variation in expression. *Lancet Neurol* 15: 279–291.
- Constantino JN, Majmudar P, Bottini A, et al. (2010) Infant head growth in male siblings of children with and without autism spectrum disorders. J Neurodev Disord 2: 39–46.
- Cortesi F, Giannotti F, Sebastiani T, et al. (2012) Controlled-release melatonin, singly and combined with cognitive behavioural therapy, for persistent insomnia in children with autism spectrum disorders: A randomized placebo-controlled trial. J Sleep Res 21: 700–709.
- Courchesne E, Carper R and Akshoomoff N (2003) Evidence of brain overgrowth in the first year of life in autism. *JAMA* 290: 337–344.
- Coury DL, Anagnostou E, Manning-Courtney P, et al. (2012) Use of psychotropic medication in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Pediatrics* 130(Suppl 2): S69–S76.
- Crews WD, Sanders EC, Hensley LG, et al. (1995) An evaluation of facilitated communication in a group of nonverbal individuals with mental retardation. *J Autism Dev Disord* 25: 205–213.
- Croen LA, Zerbo O, Qian Y, et al. (2015) The health status of adults on the autism spectrum. *Autism* 19: 814–823.
- Crossley R and Remington-Gurney J (1992) Getting the words out: Facilitated communication training. *Top Lang Disord* 12: 29–45.
- Davis TN, O'Reilly M, Kang S, et al. (2013) Chelation treatment for autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review. *Res Autism Spectr Disord* 7: 49–55.
- Dawson G, Jones EJ, Merkle K, et al. (2012) Early behavioral intervention is associated with normalized brain activity in young

children with autism. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 51: 1150–1159.

- Dawson G, Rogers S, Munson J, et al. (2010) Randomized, controlled trial of an intervention for toddlers with autism: The Early Start Denver Model. *Pediatrics* 125: e17–e23.
- Dean M, Harwood R and Kasari C (2016) The art of camouflage: Gender differences in the social behaviors of girls and boys with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism* 21: 678–689.
- de Bruin EI, Ferdinand RF, Meester S, et al. (2007) High rates of psychiatric co-morbidity in PDD-NOS. J Autism Dev Disord 37: 877–886.
- de la Torre-Ubieta L, Won H, Stein JL, et al. (2016) Advancing the understanding of autism disease mechanisms through genetics. *Nat Med* 22: 345–361.
- Dolen G and Bear MF (2008) Role for metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) in the pathogenesis of fragile X syndrome. J Physiol 586: 1503–1508.
- Domes G, Heinrichs M, Michel A, et al. (2007) Oxytocin improves "mind-reading" in humans. *Biol Psychiatry* 61: 731–733.
- Douglas-Hall P, Curran S, Bird V, et al. (2011) Aripiprazole: A review of its use in the treatment of irritability associated with autistic disorder patients aged 6-17. J Cent Nerv Syst Dis 3: 143–153.
- Eberlin M, McConnachie G, Ibel S, et al. (1993) Facilitated communication: A failure to replicate the phenomenon. J Autism Dev Disord 23: 507–530.
- Edelson SM, Rimland B, Berger CL, et al. (1998) Evaluation of a mechanical hand-support for facilitated communication. *J Autism Dev Disord* 28: 153–157.
- Elder LM, Dawson G, Toth K, et al. (2008) Head circumference as an early predictor of autism symptoms in younger siblings of children with autism spectrum disorder. *J Autism Dev Disord* 38: 1104–1111.
- Erickson CA, Posey DJ, Stigler KA, et al. (2007) A retrospective study of memantine in children and adolescents with pervasive developmental disorders. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 191: 141–147.
- Erickson CA, Veenstra-Vanderweele JM, Melmed RD, et al. (2014) STX209 (arbaclofen) for autism spectrum disorders: An 8-week open-label study. J Autism Dev Disord 44: 958–964.
- Estes ML and McAllister AK (2015) Immune mediators in the brain and peripheral tissues in autism spectrum disorder. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 16: 469–486.
- Eyles DW, Burne TH and McGrath JJ (2013) Vitamin D, effects on brain development, adult brain function and the links between low levels of vitamin D and neuropsychiatric disease. *Front Neuroendocrinol* 34: 47–64.
- Faber KM and Haring JH (1999) Synaptogenesis in the postnatal rat fascia dentata is influenced by 5-HT1a receptor activation. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 114: 245–252.
- Fankhauser MP, Karumanchi VC, German ML, et al. (1992) A doubleblind, placebo-controlled study of the efficacy of transdermal clonidine in autism. J Clin Psychiatry 53: 77–82.
- Ferguson JN, Young LJ, Hearn EF, et al. (2000) Social amnesia in mice lacking the oxytocin gene. *Nat Genet* 25: 284–288.
- Findling RL and McNamara NK (2004) Atypical antipsychotics in the treatment of children and adolescents: Clinical applications. J Clin Psychiatry 65(Suppl 6): 30–44.
- Findon J, Cadman T, Stewart CS, et al. (2016) Screening for co-occurring conditions in adults with autism spectrum disorder using the strengths and difficulties questionnaire: A pilot study. *Autism Research* 9(12): 1353–1363.q
- Food and Drug Administration (2006) FDA approves the first drug to treat irritability associated with autism, Risperdal. *FDA News*. Available at: http://www.fda.gov.
- Frankel F, Myatt R and Cantwell DP (1995) Training outpatient boys to conform with social ecology of popular peers: Effects on parent and teacher ratings. *J Clin Child Psychol* 24: 300–310.

- Frankel F, Myatt R, Cantwell DP, et al. (1997) Parent-assisted transfer of children's social skills training: Effects on children with and without attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 36: 1056–1064.
- Frankel F, Myatt R, Sugar C, et al. (2010) A randomized controlled study of parent-assisted children's friendship training with children having autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord 40: 827–842.
- Fricker AD, Rios C, Devi LA, et al. (2005) Serotonin receptor activation leads to neurite outgrowth and neuronal survival. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* 138: 228–235.
- Fung LK, Libove RA, Phillips J, et al. (2014) Brief Report: An open-label study of the neurosteroid pregnenolone in adults with autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord 44: 2971–2977.
- Gabriele S, Sacco R and Persico AM (2014) Blood serotonin levels in autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* 24: 919–929.
- Galli-Carminati G, Deriaz N and Bertschy G (2009) Melatonin in treatment of chronic sleep disorders in adults with autism: A retrospective study. *Swiss Med Wkly* 139: 293–296.
- Gardener H, Spiegelman D and Buka SL (2009) Prenatal risk factors for autism: Comprehensive meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 195: 7–14.
- Gardener H, Spiegelman D and Buka SL (2011) Perinatal and neonatal risk factors for autism: A comprehensive meta-analysis. *Pediatrics* 128: 344–355.
- Gaugler T, Klei L, Sanders SJ, et al. (2014) Most genetic risk for autism resides with common variation. *Nat Genet* 46: 881–885.
- Ghosh A, Michalon A, Lindemann L, et al. (2013) Drug discovery for autism spectrum disorder: Challenges and opportunities. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 12: 777–790.
- Goin-Kochel RP, Mackintosh VH and Myers BJ (2006) How many doctors does it take to make an autism spectrum diagnosis? *Autism* 10: 439–451.
- Golan O and Baron-Cohen S (2006) Systemizing empathy: Teaching adults with Asperger syndrome or high-functioning autism to recognize complex emotions using interactive multimedia. *Dev Psychopathol* 18: 591–617.
- Goldfarb C, Genore L, Hunt C, et al. (2016) Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for the treatment of children and youth with Autism Spectrum Disorders: An evidence-based systematic review. *Res Autism Spectr Disord* 29: 1–7.
- Gonçalves JT, Anstey JE, Golshani P, et al. (2013) Circuit level defects in the developing neocortex of Fragile X mice. *Nat Neurosci* 16: 903–909.
- Gordon CT, Nelson JE, Hamburger SD, et al. (1993) A double-blind comparison of clomipramine, desipramine, and placebo in the treatment of autistic disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 50: 441–447.
- Gray L, Gibbs J, Jolleff N, et al. (2015) Variable implementation of good practice recommendations for the assessment and management of UK children with neurodisability. *Child Care Health Dev* 41: 938–946.
- Green J, Charman T, McConachie H, et al. (2010) Parent-mediated communication-focused treatment in children with autism (PACT): A randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 375: 2152–2160.
- Gringras P, Gamble C, Jones A, et al. (2012) Melatonin for sleep problems in children with neurodevelopmental disorders: Randomised double masked placebo controlled trial. *BMJ* 345: e6664.
- Guastella AJ, Gray KM, Rinehart NJ, et al. (2015) The effects of a course of intranasal oxytocin on social behaviors in youth diagnosed with autism spectrum disorders: A randomized controlled trial. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 56: 444–452.
- Gutierrez R, Hung J, Zhang Y, et al. (2009) Altered synchrony and connectivity in neuronal networks expressing an autism-related mutation of neuroligin 3. *Neuroscience* 162: 208–221.
- Handen BL, Aman MG, Arnold LE, et al. (2015) Atomoxetine, parent training, and their combination in children with autism spectrum disorder and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 54: 905–915.

- Hanley HG, Stahl SM and Freedman DX (1977) Hyperserotonemia and amine metabolites in autistic and retarded children. Arch Gen Psychiatry 34: 521–531.
- Hansen RL, Ozonoff S, Krakowiak P, et al. (2008) Regression in autism: Prevalence and associated factors in the CHARGE Study. *Ambul Pediatr* 8: 25–31.
- Harfterkamp M, van de Loo-Neus G, Minderaa RB, et al. (2012) A randomized double-blind study of atomoxetine versus placebo for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder symptoms in children with autism spectrum disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 51: 733–741.
- Heckler S (1994) Facilitated communication: A response by child protection. *Child Abuse Negl* 18: 495–503.
- Hillier A, Fish T, Cloppert P, et al. (2007) Outcomes of a social and vocational skills support group for adolescents and young adults on the autism spectrum. *Focus Autism Other Dev Disabl* 22: 107–115.
- Hirsch LE and Pringsheim T (2016) Aripiprazole for autism spectrum disorders (ASD). Cochrane Database Syst Rev 6: CD009043.
- Hirshoren A and Gregory J (1995) Further negative findings on facilitated communication. *Psychol Sch* 32: 109–113.
- Hofvander B, Delorme R, Chaste P, et al. (2009) Psychiatric and psychosocial problems in adults with normal-intelligence autism spectrum disorders. *BMC Psychiatry* 9: 35.
- Hollander E, Phillips A, Chaplin W, et al. (2005) A placebo controlled crossover trial of liquid fluoxetine on repetitive behaviors in childhood and adolescent autism. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 30: 582–589.
- Hollander E, Soorya L, Chaplin W, et al. (2012) A double-blind placebocontrolled trial of fluoxetine for repetitive behaviors and global severity in adult autism spectrum disorders. Am J Psychiatry 169: 292–299.
- Hosie AM, Wilkins ME, da Silva HM, et al. (2006) Endogenous neurosteroids regulate GABAA receptors through two discrete transmembrane sites. *Nature* 444: 486–489.
- Howes O, Egerton A, Allan V, et al. (2009) Mechanisms underlying psychosis and antipsychotic treatment response in schizophrenia: Insights from PET and SPECT imaging. *Curr Pharm Des* 15: 2550–2559.
- Howlin P and Moss P (2012) Adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Can J Psychiatry* 57: 275–283.
- Howlin P and Yates P (1999) The potential effectiveness of social skills groups for adults with autism. *Autism* 3: 299–307.
- Hudson A, Melita B and Arnold N (1993) Brief report: A case study assessing the validity of facilitated communication. J Autism Dev Disord 23: 165–173.
- Insel TR and Shapiro LE (1992) Oxytocin receptor distribution reflects social organization in monogamous and polygamous voles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 89: 5981–5985.
- Insel TR, O'Brien DJ and Leckman JF (1999) Oxytocin, vasopressin, and autism: Is there a connection? *Biol Psychiatry* 45: 145–157.
- Jacquemont S, Curie A, Des Portes V, et al. (2011) Epigenetic modification of the FMR1 gene in fragile X syndrome is associated with differential response to the mGluR5 antagonist AFQ056. *Sci Transl Med* 3: 64ra61.
- Jahromi LB, Kasari CL, McCracken JT, et al. (2009) Positive effects of methylphenidate on social communication and self-regulation in children with pervasive developmental disorders and hyperactivity. *J Autism Dev Disord* 39: 395–404.
- Janzen-Wilde ML, Duchan JF and Higginbotham DJ (1995) Successful use of facilitated communication with an oral child. J Speech Hear Res 38: 658–676.
- Jaselskis CA, Cook EH Jr, Fletcher KE, et al. (1992) Clonidine treatment of hyperactive and impulsive children with autistic disorder. J Clin Psychopharmacol 12: 322–327.
- Jensen PS (1999) A 14-month randomized clinical trial of treatment strategies for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 56: 1073–1086.
- Johnson CP and Myers SM (2007) Identification and evaluation of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Pediatrics* 120: 1183–1215.

- Joshi G, Wozniak J, Petty C, et al. (2013) Psychiatric comorbidity and functioning in a clinically referred population of adults with autism spectrum disorders: A comparative study. J Autism Dev Disord 43: 1314–1325.
- Kasari C, Freeman S and Paparella T (2006) Joint attention and symbolic play in young children with autism: A randomized controlled intervention study. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 47: 611–620.
- Kasari C, Lawton K, Shih W, et al. (2014) Caregiver-mediated intervention for low-resourced preschoolers with autism: An RCT. *Pediatrics* 134: e72–e79.
- Kearns GL, Abdel-Rahman SM, Alander SW, et al. (2003) Developmental pharmacology—drug disposition, action, and therapy in infants and children. N Engl J Med 349: 1157–1167.
- Kent JM, Kushner S, Ning X, et al. (2013) Risperidone dosing in children and adolescents with autistic disorder: A double-blind, placebocontrolled study. J Autism Dev Disord 43: 1773–1783.
- Kesterson KL, Lane RD and Rhoades RW (2002) Effects of elevated serotonin levels on patterns of GAP-43 expression during barrel development in rat somatosensory cortex. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* 139: 167–174.
- Khemka I (2000) Increasing independent decision-making skills of women with mental retardation in simulated interpersonal situations of abuse. Am J Ment Retard 105: 387–401.
- Khemka I, Hickson L, Reynolds G, et al. (2005) Evaluation of a decisionmaking curriculum designed to empower women with mental retardation to resist abuse. Am J Ment Retard 110: 193–204.
- Kielinen M, Rantala H, Timonen E, et al. (2004) Associated medical disorders and disabilities in children with autistic disorder a populationbased study. *Autism* 8: 49–60.
- Kim E, Howes OD, Turkheimer FE, et al. (2013) The relationship between antipsychotic D2 occupancy and change in frontal metabolism and working memory. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 227: 221–229.
- Kim SH and Lord C (2010) Restricted and repetitive behaviors in toddlers and preschoolers with autism spectrum disorders based on the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS). *Autism Res* 3: 162–173.
- King BH, Hollander E, Sikich L, et al. (2009) Lack of efficacy of citalopram in children with autism spectrum disorders and high levels of repetitive behavior: Citalopram ineffective in children with autism. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 66: 583–590.
- King BH, Wright DM, Handen BL, et al. (2001) Double-blind, placebocontrolled study of amantadine hydrochloride in the treatment of children with autistic disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 40: 658–665.
- Klei L, Sanders SJ, Murtha MT, et al. (2012) Common genetic variants, acting additively, are a major source of risk for autism. *Mol Autism* 3: 9.
- Klewe L (1993) Brief report: An empirical evaluation of spelling boards as a means of communication for the multihandicapped. J Autism Dev Disord 23: 559–566.
- Koenig K, White SW, Pachler M, et al. (2010) Promoting social skill development in children with pervasive developmental disorders: A feasibility and efficacy study. J Autism Dev Disord 40: 1209–1218.
- Kolevzon A, Bush L, Wang AT, et al. (2014) A pilot controlled trial of insulin-like growth factor-1 in children with Phelan-McDermid syndrome. *Mol Autism* 5: 54.
- Konstantareas MM and Gravelle G (1998) Facilitated communication: The contribution of physical, emotional and mental support. *Autism* 2: 389–414.
- Koyama R and Ikegaya Y (2015) Microglia in the pathogenesis of autism spectrum disorders. *Neurosci Res* 100: 1–5.
- Lai M-C and Baron-Cohen S (2015) Identifying the lost generation of adults with autism spectrum conditions. *Lancet Psychiatry* 2: 1013–1027.
- Lai MC, Lombardo MV, Pasco G, et al. (2011) A behavioral comparison of male and female adults with high functioning autism spectrum conditions. *PLoS One* 6: e20835.

- Landa RJ, Holman KC, O'Neill AH, et al. (2011) Intervention targeting development of socially synchronous engagement in toddlers with autism spectrum disorder: A randomized controlled trial. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 52: 13–21.
- Lang R, Regester A, Lauderdale S, et al. (2010) Treatment of anxiety in autism spectrum disorders using cognitive behaviour therapy: A systematic review. *Dev Neurorehabil* 13: 53–63.
- Lange N, Travers BG, Bigler ED, et al. (2015) Longitudinal volumetric brain changes in autism spectrum disorder ages 6-35 years. *Autism Res* 8: 82–93.
- Laugeson EA, Frankel F, Mogil C, et al. (2009) Parent-assisted social skills training to improve friendships in teens with autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord 39: 596–606.
- Leigh MJ, Nguyen DV, Mu Y, et al. (2013) A randomized doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial of minocycline in children and adolescents with fragile X syndrome. J Dev Behav Pediatr 34: 147–155.
- Lenroot RK and KaYeung P (2013) Heterogeneity within autism spectrum disorders: What have we learned from neuroimaging studies? *Front Hum Neurosci* 7: 733.
- Lever AG and Geurts HM (2016) Psychiatric co-occurring symptoms and disorders in young, middle-aged, and older adults with autism spectrum disorder. *J Autism Dev Disord* 46: 1916–1930.
- Leyfer OT, Folstein SE, Bacalman S, et al. (2006) Comorbid psychiatric disorders in children with autism: Interview development and rates of disorders. J Autism Dev Disord 36: 849–861.
- Lichtenstein P, Carlstrom E, Rastam M, et al. (2010) The genetics of autism spectrum disorders and related neuropsychiatric disorders in childhood. *Am J Psychiatry* 167: 1357–1363.
- Lopata C, Thomeer ML, Volker MA, et al. (2010) RCT of a manualized social treatment for high-functioning autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord 40: 1297–1310.
- Lord C, Petkova E, Hus V, et al. (2012a) A multisite study of the clinical diagnosis of different autism spectrum disorders. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 69: 306–313.
- Lord C, Risi S, Lambrecht L, et al. (2000) The autism diagnostic observation schedule—Generic: A standard measure of social and communication deficits associated with the spectrum of autism. J Autism Dev Disord 30: 205–223.
- Lord C, Rutter M, DiLavore P, et al. (2012b) Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule–(ADOS-2), 2nd edn. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Corporation.
- Lord C, Rutter M and Le Couteur A (1994) Autism diagnostic interviewrevised: A revised version of a diagnostic interview for caregivers of individuals with possible pervasive developmental disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord* 24: 659–685.
- Loth E, Charman T, Mason L, et al. (2017) The EU-AIMS Longitudinal European Autism Project (LEAP): Design and methodologies to identify and validate stratification biomarkers for autism spectrum disorders. *Mol Autism* 8: 24.
- Loth E, Murphy DG and Spooren W (2016a) Defining precision medicine approaches to autism spectrum disorders: Concepts and challenges. *Front Psychiatry* 7.
- Loth E, Spooren W, Ham LM, et al. (2016b) Identification and validation of biomarkers for autism spectrum disorders. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 15: 70–73.
- Luby J, Mrakotsky C, Stalets MM, et al. (2006) Risperidone in preschool children with autistic spectrum disorders: An investigation of safety and efficacy. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol* 16: 575–587.
- McConachie H, Parr JR, Glod M, et al. (2015) Systematic review of tools to measure outcomes for young children with autism spectrum disorder. *Health Technol Assess* 19: 1–506.
- McCracken JT, McGough J, Shah B, et al. (2002) Risperidone in children with autism and serious behavioral problems. *N Engl J Med* 347: 314–321.

- McDougle CJ, Holmes JP, Carlson DC, et al. (1998) A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of risperidone in adults with autistic disorder and other pervasive developmental disorders. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 55: 633–641.
- McDougle CJ, Naylor ST, Cohen DJ, et al. (1996) A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of fluvoxamine in adults with autistic disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 53: 1001–1008.
- McDougle CJ, Scahill L, Aman MG, et al. (2005) Risperidone for the core symptom domains of autism: Results from the study by the autism network of the research units on pediatric psychopharmacology. *Am J Psychiatry* 162: 1142–1148.
- Maenner MJ, Rice CE, Arneson CL, et al. (2014) Potential impact of DSM-5 criteria on autism spectrum disorder prevalence estimates. *JAMA Psychiatry* 71: 292–300.
- Magiati I, Tay XW and Howlin P (2014) Cognitive, language, social and behavioural outcomes in adults with autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review of longitudinal follow-up studies in adulthood. *Clin Psychol Rev* 34: 73–86.
- Man KK, Chan EW, Coghill DR, et al. (2015) Prenatal antidepressant exposure and the risk of autism spectrum disorder and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. In: 31st International Conference on Pharmacoepidemiology & Therapeutic Risk Management, ICPE 2015, Boston, MA, 23–26 August 2015. Bethesda, MD: International Society for Pharmacoepidemiology (ISPE).
- Mandy W, Chilvers R, Chowdhury U, et al. (2012) Sex differences in autism spectrum disorder: Evidence from a large sample of children and adolescents. *J Autism Dev Disord* 42: 1304–1313.
- Mandy W and Lai MC (2016) Annual Research Review: The role of the environment in the developmental psychopathology of autism spectrum condition. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 57: 271–292.
- Marcus RN, Owen R, Kamen L, et al. (2009) A placebo-controlled, fixed-dose study of aripiprazole in children and adolescents with irritability associated with autistic disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 48: 1110–1119.
- Marcus RN, Owen R, Manos G, et al. (2011) Safety and tolerability of aripiprazole for irritability in pediatric patients with autistic disorder: A 52-week, open-label, multicenter study. *J Clin Psychiatry* 72: 1270–1276.
- Maskey M, Warnell F, Parr JR, et al. (2013) Emotional and behavioural problems in children with autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord 43: 851–859.
- Matson JL, DiLorenzo TM and Esveldt-Dawson K (1981) Independence training as a method of enhancing self-help skills acquisition of the mentally retarded. *Behav Res Ther* 19: 399–405.
- Mayes SD, Calhoun SL, Murray MJ, et al. (2011) Anxiety, depression, and irritability in children with autism relative to other neuropsychiatric disorders and typical development. *Res Autism Spectr Disord* 5: 474–485.
- Mazefsky C, McPartland J, Gastgeb H, et al. (2013) Brief report: Comparability of DSM-IV and DSM-5 ASD research samples. J Autism Dev Disord 43: 1236–1242.
- Mazer C, Muneyyirci J, Taheny K, et al. (1997) Serotonin depletion during synaptogenesis leads to decreased synaptic density and learning deficits in the adult rat: A possible model of neurodevelopmental disorders with cognitive deficits. *Brain Res* 760: 68–73.
- Mendez MA, Horder J, Myers J, et al. (2013) The brain GABA-benzodiazepine receptor alpha-5 subtype in autism spectrum disorder: A pilot [11 C] Ro15-4513 positron emission tomography study. *Neuropharmacology* 68: 195–201.
- Minshawi NF, Wink LK, Shaffer R, et al. (2016) A randomized, placebocontrolled trial of D-cycloserine for the enhancement of social skills training in autism spectrum disorders. *Mol Autism* 7: 2.
- Miral S, Gencer O, Inal-Emiroglu FN, et al. (2008) Risperidone versus haloperidol in children and adolescents with AD - A randomized, controlled, double-blind trial. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 17: 1–8.

- Montee BB, Miltenberger RG and Wittrock D (1995) An experimental analysis of facilitated communication. J Appl Behav Anal 28: 189–200.
- Murray ML, Hsia Y, Glaser K, et al. (2014) Pharmacological treatments prescribed to people with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) in primary health care. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 231: 1011–1021.
- Myles BS and Simpson RL (1994) Facilitated communication with children diagnosed as autistic in public school settings. *Psychol Sch* 31: 208–220.
- Myles BS, Simpson RL and Smith SM (1996) Collateral behavioral and social effects of using facilitated communication with individuals with autism. *Focus Autism Other Devel Disabl* 11: 163–169.
- Naaijen J, Lythgoe DJ, Amiri H, et al. (2015) Fronto-striatal glutamatergic compounds in compulsive and impulsive syndromes: A review of magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 52: 74–88.
- Nagaraj R, Singhi P and Malhi P (2006) Risperidone in children with autism: Randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind study. *J Child Neurol* 21: 450–455.
- National Institute for Clinical Excellence (2012) Autism: Recognition, referral, diagnosis and management of adults on the autism spectrum. Natl Inst Health Care Excell 142: 18–19.
- National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2013) Autism spectrum disorder in under 19s: Support and management. NICE Guidline (CG170). London: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg170.
- Nelson SB and Valakh V (2015) Excitatory/Inhibitory balance and circuit homeostasis in autism spectrum disorders. *Neuron* 87: 684–698.
- Neuropharm: Clinicaltrails.gov. (2012) Study of Fluoxetine in Autism (SOFIA). Available at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT00515320.
- Niederhofer H, Staffen W and Mair A (2002) Lofexidine in hyperactive and impulsive children with autistic disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 41: 1396–1397.
- Norbury CF (2014) Practitioner review: Social (pragmatic) communication disorder conceptualization, evidence and clinical implications. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 55: 204–216.
- Noterdaeme M, Wriedt E and Hohne C (2010) Asperger's syndrome and high-functioning autism: Language, motor and cognitive profiles. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 19: 475–481.
- O'Connor MJ, Frankel F, Paley B, et al. (2006) A controlled social skills training for children with fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. *J Consult Clin Psychol* 74: 639.
- Okamoto Y, Ishitobi M, Wada Y, et al. (2016) The potential of nasal oxytocin administration for remediation of autism spectrum disorders. *CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets* 15: 564–577.
- Olney M (1995) Reading between the lines: A case study on facilitated communication. J Assoc Persons Severe Handicaps 20: 57–65.
- Oono IP, Honey EJ and McConachie H (2013) Parent-mediated early intervention for young children with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). Cochrane Database Syst Rev 8: 2380–2479.
- Oswald DP (1994) Facilitator influence in facilitated communication. J Behav Educ 4: 191–199.
- Owen R, Sikich L, Marcus RN, et al. (2009) Aripiprazole in the treatment of irritability in children and adolescents with autistic disorder. *Pediatrics* 124: 1533–1540.
- Ozonoff S, Goodlin-Jones BL and Solomon M (2005) Evidence-based assessment of autism spectrum disorders in children and adolescents. *J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol* 34: 523–540.
- Pacher P and Kecskemeti V (2004) Cardiovascular side effects of new antidepressants and antipsychotics: New drugs, old concerns? *Curr Pharm Des* 10: 2463–2475.
- Palmer E, Ketteridge C, Parr J, et al. (2010) Autism spectrum disorder diagnostic assessments: Improvements since publication of the National Autism Plan for Children. Arch Dis Child 96: 473–475.
- Paribello C, Tao L, Folino A, et al. (2010) Open-label add-on treatment trial of minocycline in fragile X syndrome. *BMC Neurol* 10: 91.

- Pardo CA, Farmer CA, Thurm A, et al. (2017) Serum and cerebrospinal fluid immune mediators in children with autistic disorder: A longitudinal study. *Mol Autism* 8: 1.
- Parr J, Jolleff N, Gray L, et al. (2013) Twenty years of research shows UK child development team provision still varies widely for children with disability. *Child Care Health Dev* 39: 903–907.
- Parsons CG, Stoffler A and Danysz W (2007) Memantine: A NMDA receptor antagonist that improves memory by restoration of homeostasis in the glutamatergic system-too little activation is bad, too much is even worse. *Neuropharmacology* 53: 699–723.
- Peixoto RT, Wang W, Croney DM, et al. (2016) Early hyperactivity and precocious maturation of corticostriatal circuits in Shank3B-/-mice. *Nature Neurosci* 19: 716–724.
- Penner M, Anagnostou E, Andoni LY, et al. (2017) Systematic review of clinical guidance documents for autism spectrum disorder diagnostic assessment in select regions. *Autism*. Epub ahead of print 1 May 2017. DOI: 10.1177/1362361316685879.
- Pickles A, Le Couteur A, Leadbitter K, et al. (2016) Parent-mediated social communication therapy for young children with autism (PACT): Long-term follow-up of a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 388: 2501–2509.
- Posey DJ, Kem DL, Swiezy NB, et al. (2004) A pilot study of D-cycloserine in subjects with autistic disorder. Am J Psychiatry 161: 2115–2117.
- Raznahan A, Lenroot R, Thurm A, et al. (2013a) Mapping cortical anatomy in preschool aged children with autism using surface-based morphometry. *NeuroImage Clin* 2: 111–119.
- Raznahan A, Wallace GL, Antezana L, et al. (2013b) Compared to what? Early brain overgrowth in autism and the perils of population norms. *Biol Psychiatry* 74: 563–575.
- Redcay E and Courchesne E (2005) When is the brain enlarged in autism? A meta-analysis of all brain size reports. *Biol Psychiatry* 58: 1–9.
- Regal RA, Rooney JR and Wandas T (1994) Facilitated communication: An experimental evaluation. J Autism Dev Disord 24: 345–355.
- Reichow B, Volkmar FR and Bloch MH (2013) Systematic review and meta-analysis of pharmacological treatment of the symptoms of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in children with pervasive developmental disorders. J Autism Dev Disord 43: 2435–2441.
- Reisberg B, Doody R, Stoffler A, et al. (2003) Memantine in moderateto-severe Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 348: 1333–1341.
- Research Units on Pediatric Psychopharmacology (RUPP) Autism Network (2005) Randomized, controlled, crossover trial of methylphenidate in pervasive developmental disorders with hyperactivity. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62: 1266–1274.
- Richdale AL and Schreck KA (2009) Sleep problems in autism spectrum disorders: Prevalence, nature, & possible biopsychosocial aetiologies. *Sleep Med Rev* 13: 403–411.
- Richetto J, Calabrese F, Riva MA, et al. (2014) Prenatal immune activation induces maturation-dependent alterations in the prefrontal GABAergic transcriptome. *Schizophren Bull* 40: 351–361.
- Rimland B (1992) Facilitated communication: Problems, puzzles and paradoxes: Six challenges for researchers. *Autism Res Rev* 5: 3.
- Rogers SJ (2004) Developmental regression in autism spectrum disorders. *Mental Retard Dev Disabl Res Rev* 10: 139–143.
- Ronald A and Hoekstra RA (2011) Autism spectrum disorders and autistic traits: A decade of new twin studies. Am J Med Gen B Neuropsychiatr Genet 156: 255–274.
- Rossignol DA and Frye RE (2011) Melatonin in autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Dev Med Child Neurol* 53: 783–792.
- Rothman DL, De Feyter HM, Graaf RA, et al. (2011) 13C MRS studies of neuroenergetics and neurotransmitter cycling in humans. *NMR Biomed* 24: 943–957.
- Rothman DL, De Feyter HM, Maciejewski PK, et al. (2012) Is there in vivo evidence for amino acid shuttles carrying ammonia from neurons to astrocytes? *Neurochem Res* 37: 2597–2612.

- Roy M, Prox-Vagedes V, Ohlmeier MD, et al. (2015) Beyond childhood: Psychiatric comorbidities and social background of adults with Asperger syndrome. *Psychiatr Danub* 27: 50–59.
- Rubenstein J and Merzenich MM (2003) Model of autism: Increased ratio of excitation/inhibition in key neural systems. *Genes Brain Behavior* 2: 255–267.
- Rudra A, Banerjee S, Singhal N, et al. (2014) Translation and usability of autism screening and diagnostic tools for autism spectrum conditions in India. *Autism Res* 7: 598–607.
- Russell AJ, Jassi A, Fullana MA, et al. (2013) Cognitive behavior therapy for comorbid obsessive-compulsive disorder in high functioning autism spectrum disorders: A randomized controlled trial. *Depress Anxiety* 30: 697–708.
- Rutherford M, McKenzie K, Johnson T, et al. (2016) Gender ratio in a clinical population sample, age of diagnosis and duration of assessment in children and adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism* 20: 628–634.
- Sabin LA and Donnellan AM (1993) A qualitative study of the process of facilitated communication. JAssoc Pers Severe Handicaps 18: 200–211.
- Salazar F, Baird G, Chandler S, et al. (2015) Co-occurring psychiatric disorders in preschool and elementary school-aged children with autism spectrum disorder. *J Autism Dev Disord* 45: 2283–2294.
- Sanders SJ, He X, Willsey AJ, et al. (2015) Insights into autism spectrum disorder genomic architecture and biology from 71 risk loci. *Neuron* 87: 1215–1233.
- Sandler AD, Sutton KA, DeWeese J, et al. (1999) Lack of benefit of a single dose of synthetic human secretin in the treatment of autism and pervasive developmental disorder. N Engl J Med 341: 1801–1806.
- Scahill L, Aman MG, McDougle CJ, et al. (2006) A prospective open trial of guanfacine in children with pervasive developmental disorders. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 16: 589–598.
- Scahill L, Hallett V, Aman MG, et al. (2013) Brief report: Social disability in autism spectrum disorder: Results from Research Units on Pediatric Psychopharmacology (RUPP) Autism Network trials. *J Autism Dev Disord* 43: 739–746.
- Scahill L, McCracken JT, King BH, et al. (2015) Extended-release guanfacine for hyperactivity in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* 172: 1197–1206.
- Schumann CM, Bloss CS, Barnes CC, et al. (2010) Longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study of cortical development through early childhood in autism. *J Neurosci* 30: 4419–4427.
- Shea S, Turgay A, Carroll A, et al. (2004) Risperidone in the treatment of disruptive behavioral symptoms in children with autistic and other pervasive developmental disorders. *Pediatrics* 114: E634–E641.
- Sheehan CM and Matuozzi RT (1996) Investigation of the validity of facilitated communication through the disclosure of unknown information. *Mental Retard* 34: 94.
- Shekelle PG, Woolf SH, Eccles M, et al. (1999) Clinical guidelines: Developing guidelines. *BMJ* 318: 593.
- Sibson NR, Dhankhar A, Mason GF, et al. (1998) Stoichiometric coupling of brain glucose metabolism and glutamatergic neuronal activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 95: 316–321.
- Silverman L, Hollway JA, Smith T, et al. (2014) A multisite trial of atomoxetine and parent training in children with autism spectrum disorders: Rationale and design challenges. *Res Autism Spectr Disord* 8: 899–907.
- Simon EW, Whitehair PM and Toll DM (1996) A case study: Follow-up assessment of facilitated communication. J Autism Dev Disord 26: 9–18.
- Simonoff E, Pickles A, Charman T, et al. (2008) Psychiatric disorders in children with autism spectrum disorders: Prevalence, comorbidity, and associated factors in a population-derived sample. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 47: 921–929.
- Simpson RL and Myles BS (1995a) Effectiveness of facilitated communication with children and youth with autism. J Spec Educ 28: 424–439.

- Simpson RL and Myles BS (1995b) Facilitated communication and children with disabilities: An enigma in search of a perspective. *Focus Except Child* 27: 1–16.
- Sinzig J, Walter D and Doepfner M (2009) Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder: Symptom or syndrome? J Atten Disord 13: 117–126.
- Smith MD and Belcher RG (1993) Brief report: Facilitated communication with adults with autism. J Autism Dev Disord 23: 175–183.
- Smith MD, Haas PJ and Belcher RG (1994) Facilitated communication: The effects of facilitator knowledge and level of assistance on output. J Autism Dev Disord 24: 357–367.
- Smith T (2001) Discrete trial training in the treatment of autism. *Focus Autism Other Dev Disabl* 16: 86–92.
- Smith T, Aman MG, Arnold LE, et al. (2016) Atomoxetine and parent training for children with autism and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: A 24-week extension study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 55: 868–876. e862.
- Sripada RK, Marx CE, King AP, et al. (2013) Allopregnanolone elevations following pregnenolone administration are associated with enhanced activation of emotion regulation neurocircuits. *Biol Psychiatry* 73: 1045–1053.
- Strain PS and Bovey EH (2011) Randomized, controlled trial of the LEAP model of early intervention for young children with autism spectrum disorders. *Top Early Child Spec Educ* 31: 133–154.
- Szempruch J and Jacobson JW (1993) Evaluating facilitated communications of people with developmental disabilities. *Res Dev Disabl* 14: 253–264.
- Troost PW, Lahuis BE, Steenhuis M-P, et al. (2005) Long-term effects of risperidone in children with autism spectrum disorders: A placebo discontinuation study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 44: 1137–1144.
- Tsai GE and Lin P-Y (2010) Strategies to enhance N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated neurotransmission in schizophrenia, a critical review and meta-analysis. *Curr Pharm Des* 16: 522–537.
- Tyzio R, Cossart R, Khalilov I, et al. (2006) Maternal oxytocin triggers a transient inhibitory switch in GABA signaling in the fetal brain during delivery. *Science* 314: 1788–1792.
- Tyzio R, Nardou R, Ferrari DC, et al. (2014) Oxytocin-mediated GABA inhibition during delivery attenuates autism pathogenesis in rodent offspring. *Science* 343: 675–679.
- Van Wijngaarden-Cremers PJ, van Eeten E, Groen WB, et al. (2014) Gender and age differences in the core triad of impairments in autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Autism Dev Disord* 44: 627–635.
- Vasa RA, Carroll LM, Nozzolillo AA, et al. (2014) A systematic review of treatments for anxiety in youth with autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord 44: 3215–3229.
- Vázquez CA (1994) Brief report: A multitask controlled evaluation of facilitated communication. J Autism Dev Disord 24: 369–379.
- Veenstra-VanderWeele J, Cook EH, King BH, et al. (2016) Arbaclofen in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder: A randomized, controlled, phase 2 Trial. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 42: 1390–1398.
- Veenstra-VanderWeele J, Muller CL, Iwamoto H, et al. (2012) Autism gene variant causes hyperserotonemia, serotonin receptor hypersensitivity, social impairment and repetitive behavior. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109: 5469–5474.
- Voineagu I, Wang X, Johnston P, et al. (2011) Transcriptomic analysis of autistic brain reveals convergent molecular pathology. *Nature* 474: 380–384.
- Vorstman J, Staal W, Van Daalen E, et al. (2006) Identification of novel autism candidate regions through analysis of reported

cytogenetic abnormalities associated with autism. *Mol Psychiatry* 11: 1, 18–28.

- Waknine Y (2010) FDA approves aripiprazole to treat irritability in autistic children. Available at: https://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/713006 (accessed 23 February).
- Wallace S, Parr J and Hardy A (2013) One in a hundred: Putting families at the heart of autism research. *Autistica*. Available at: https://www. rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/One%20in%20a%20Hundred%20-%20Autistica's%20Report.pdf (accessed April 2015).
- Warnell F, George B, McConachie H, et al. (2015) Designing and recruiting to UK autism spectrum disorder research databases: Do they include representative children with valid ASD diagnoses? *BMJ Open* 5: e008625.
- Watanabe T, Kuroda M, Kuwabara H, et al. (2015) Clinical and neural effects of six-week administration of oxytocin on core symptoms of autism. *Brain* 138: 3400–3412.
- Weiss MJS, Wagner SH and Bauman ML (1996) A validated case study of facilitated communication. *Mental Retard* 34: 220.
- Weitlauf AS, McPheeters ML, Peters B, et al. (2014) Therapies for children with autism spectrum disorder: Behavioral Interventions Update. Comparative Effectiveness Review No. 137. (Prepared by the Vanderbilt Evidence-based Practice Center under Contract No. 290-2012-00009-I.) AHRQ Publication No. 14-EHC036-EF. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Available at: https:// effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/topics/autism-update/research (accessed 22 November 2017).
- Wetherby AM, Guthrie W, Woods J, et al. (2014) Parent-implemented social intervention for toddlers with autism: An RCT. *Pediatrics* 134: 1084–1093.
- Wheeler DL, Jacobson JW, Paglieri RA, et al. (1993) An experimental assessment of facilitated communication. *Mental Retard* 31: 49.
- Whittington C, Pennant M, Kendall T, et al. (2016) Practitioner Review: Treatments for Tourette syndrome in children and young people–a systematic review. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 57: 988–1004.
- Wigham S, Barton S, Parr JR, et al. (2017) A systematic review of the rates of depression in children and adults with high-functioning autism spectrum disorder. J Mental Health Res Intell Disabl: 1–21.
- Williams K, Brignell A, Randall M, et al. (2013) Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) for autism spectrum disorders (ASD). *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 8: CD004677.
- Wilson CE, Gillan N, Spain D, et al. (2013) Comparison of ICD-10R, DSM-IV-TR and DSM-5 in an adult autism spectrum disorder diagnostic clinic. J Autism Dev Disord 43: 2515–2525.
- Wilson CE, Murphy CM, McAlonan G, et al. (2016) Does sex influence the diagnostic evaluation of autism spectrum disorder in adults? *Autism* 20: 808–819.
- Wilson SJ, Nutt D, Alford C, et al. (2010) British Association for Psychopharmacology consensus statement on evidence-based treatment of insomnia, parasomnias and circadian rhythm disorders. J Psychopharmacol 24: 1577–1601.
- Wink LK, Minshawi NF, Shaffer RC, et al. (2017) D-Cycloserine enhances durability of social skills training in autism spectrum disorder. *Mol Autism* 8: 2.
- World Health Organization (1992) International Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders (ICD-10). Geneva, IL: WHO.
- Yatawara CJ, Einfeld SL, Hickie IB, et al. (2016) The effect of oxytocin nasal spray on social interaction deficits observed in young children with autism: A randomized clinical crossover trial. *Mol Psychiatry* 21: 1225–1231.
- Zielinski BA, Prigge MB, Nielsen JA, et al. (2014) Longitudinal changes in cortical thickness in autism and typical development. *Brain* 137: 1799–1812.